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Delegation by Mary Cruden, 

Chair, Canadian Parents for French Ontario Advocacy Committee 

to the Halton Catholic District School Board  

November 19, 2019 

   
 

Thank you, Trustees, for this opportunity to delegate. We will address 3 main areas in our oral remarks:  

 

1. Essentials of the guiding document for French Second Language (FSL) education in Ontario: 

 “A Framework for French as a Second Language in Ontario Schools, Kindergarten to Grade 12” 

 

2. Parent expectations and benchmarks for French Immersion programming across Ontario 

 

3. Response to HCDSB draft FSL Program policy and consultation 

 

 

Appendices to this presentation: 

 

A. Detailed response to Sept 17, 2019 Draft FSL Program policy No. 11-51 

 

i. Admissions Process and Waiting Lists 

ii. Parent Engagement 

iii. Supply, Recruitment and Retention of Qualified French Teachers 

iv. CPF Revised Sept 17, 2019 Draft Policy No. 11-51 

 

B. Reference Material 

 

C. About Canadian Parents for French 

 

D. CPF Annotated Edits Sept 17, 2019 Draft Policy No. 11-51 
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1. Essentials of the Framework for French as a Second Language (FSL) in Ontario Schools 

In 2013, the Framework for French as a Second Language policy document for education in Ontario was 

published after extensive consultation with stakeholders and experts. Its stated purpose is to “maximize 

opportunities for Ontario students to reach their full potential in French as a Second Language” (p. 3) 

and to call all stakeholders to take “action to strengthen FSL programming” (p.7). 

Learning French as a second language gives students the significant advantages of being able to 

communicate in both official languages, enhances first language and overall literacy skills, interpersonal 

and social skills and increases post-secondary and job opportunities (p.3). 

Ontario Goals for FSL (p.9): 

1. Increase student confidence, proficiency, and achievement in FSL, 

2. Increase the percentage of students studying FSL until graduation, 

3. Increase student, educator, parents and community engagement in FSL. 

Decision Making in FSL (p.7): 

“Stakeholder involvement is a vital part of the process”, 

“Choices are best made in consultation with stakeholders, taking current research into consideration”. 

Equity in FSL (p.10): 

“Participation in FSL programs should reflect the diversity of the student populations, including students 

with special education needs and English language learners.” 

  

2. Parent Expectations and Benchmarks for French Immersion (FI) across Ontario 

In 2010, HCDSB adopted a strategic plan that identified expanding opportunities for students as a 

system priority. In 2012, HCDSB followed up by starting early French Immersion based on a very 

“compelling” level of interest from parents. The rationale for building the FI program is as valid today as 

it was then.  

We thank the previous Board for making the French Immersion program permanent and the current 

Board for taking the next steps by developing policy and procedures that support French 

Immersion/Extended French students and strong, effective and inclusive French programs until grade 12 

graduation.  

For parents who believe strongly that a good education includes becoming proficient in both of our 

Official Languages, early French Immersion continues to be the optimal approach. It provides an early 

start, high intensity and maximum possible time in French. The HCDSB model of 50% French starting in 

Grade 1 is the Ministry minimum.  

Generally, French Immersion grade 12 graduates achieve the high-intermediate level of proficiency 

needed to attend a French university while students in Core French achieve a basic level of proficiency. 

Extended graduates fall in the middle. For Core and Extended French, provincial funding and curriculum 

2



on.cpf.ca 3 

 

are provided starting at Grade 4. Funding is available for immersion from Junior Kindergarten and the 

curriculum begins at Grade 1, as it does in the English program.  

Parents expect that public education will provide the best possible opportunities for their children and 

that access to these opportunities will not be rationed. Parents do understand the practical reality that it 

takes time to achieve the universally accessible and fully rolled out to grade 12 programs that other 

Boards with a 40-year head start already have in place. However, they expect to see continual 

improvement and commitment from their Trustees and school board leaders to mirror their own 

commitment to their children and bilingualism in Canada.   

Approximately 13% of the Ontario JK-12 student population are in French Immersion/Extended French 

at 53 of the 60 English boards. The 7 English boards left in Ontario without the programs serve only 3% 

of the Ontario student population. Student participation in French Immersion has been growing at an 

average rate of 5.7% for the last 13 consecutive years across Ontario. Graduates of the programs are 

now parents and grandparents themselves. We expect that HCDSB parents will continue to seek the 

same or better opportunities for their children in French Immersion wherever they can find them and 

that the uptake for French Immersion in HCDSB will grow in a steady, manageable way as you build a 

quality program to grade 12.  

 

 

3. Response to HCDSB Consultation and Draft French Program Policy 

The French policy in its draft form and the procedure are a good start. Further refinement and edits are 

warranted for clarity and consistency and fully explained in Appendix D.   

While impressive, the staff report on siblings does not help with the basic decision before you on 

whether or not to have a sibling rule. Sibling rules, when used to ration spots, reduce the chances for 

entry of first borns and how many are affected year over year, site by site, is impossible to project.  

Regardless, the main issue of fairness is rationing spots; ie, not having enough spots for all applicants in 

a public funded, Ministry supported French program. Sibling rules should be considered a short-term, 

stop gap, humane way to proceed as the program grows to meet demand.  

As the number of spots grows with new sites and/or classrooms added, lotteries with ‘winners’ getting a 

spot and ‘losers’ being on waiting lists are eliminated. The sibling rule can remain in place to allow  

families to stay together at their originally designated FI/Ext school. This demonstrates that the Board is 

concerned with family well-being by providing them with stability and predictability while also helping 

to build a strong French program.  
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Next steps: 

- further refinement for clarity and edits to draft policy to support: 

 -increasing the number of French Immersion spots and adding new sites as needed to meet 

demand 

-full roll out of French Immersion to Grade 12 

-annual public reporting to Trustees on enrolment, successes and challenges in FSL programs 

 

- further development of HCDSB FSL procedures to support: 

-creation of a standing French Second Language Working Group with parent representation 

from Core French and from each immersion/extended school, staff and trustees  

- FSL focused professional development for teachers and principals to support retention of 

teachers and high-quality French programs  

-provision of special education support in French Immersion/Extended equivalent to support 

offered in English 

 

In Conclusion: 

French Immersion is a solid, research based and validated educational program where students achieve 

levels in English EQAO that are on par, if not ahead of their peers, in addition to developing proficiency 

in French, our other official language. French is a valuable life skill and a gateway to learning additional 

languages. 

The draft policy is a reasonable step forward in support of expanding French Immersion/Extended 

programs to meet the needs and aspirations of the HCDSB community.  

The key goals for parents, the province and the country are to increase student participation in French 

Immersion/Extended and improve French proficiency outcomes. This means eliminating waiting lists by 

opening new sites and/or classrooms with sufficient spots for all applicants in a high-quality program, 

having an FSL Working Group and supporting French teachers. These are all SMART goals – specific, 

measurable, attainable, relevant and timely.     

Thank you for the work that you and HCDSB staff do to support the teaching and learning of French as a 

Second Language. Canadian Parents for French Ontario is looking forward to future collaboration with 

parents, Trustees and staff of the Halton Catholic District School Board. 
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APPENDIX A 

 

i. ADMISSIONS PROCESS and WAITING LISTS 

The best practice in admissions for French Immersion across the country and at most Ontario school 

boards is that every applicant gets a spot. That is how the regular program, delivered in English, works 

and it is what parents expect for the regular program, delivered in French that is publicly funded and 

Ministry supported.  

HCDSB data from 2019-20 showed 108 waitlisted French Immersion students, with 53 students on the 

waitlist at one site. Clearly, the French Immersion catchment for that site needs to split with a new site 

added. Students in French Immersion do not take up additional space, rather they require a 

reorganization of existing space.  

Once the applications are closed for entry Sept 2020, the data needs to be examined and if there are 

more applicants than spots, add a new site for Sept 2020 and an additional entry class at an existing 

location until such time as a new site can be opened. Make the lottery unnecessary. This is not unlike 

how Boards respond to general student population growth. Many boards in Ontario, including those 

with the largest French Immersion programs have been taking this approach for more than 40 years.  

Recommendation: 

That HCDSB increase the number of French Immersion spots and add classes/sites as needed to meet 

demand starting with the applicants for entry in September 2020.   

 

ii. ON-GOING PARENT ENGAGEMENT  

While informal conversations and the survey on the French policy provided feedback in the policy 

development process, a more in-depth, sustained, research-informed collaborative dialogue between 

parents, Trustees and staff is needed to build stronger, effective French Immersion/Extended programs 

at HCDSB. The survey results and even the discussions of Trustees and staff comments at Board 

meetings show that some common myths about French programs persist and needs to be addressed on 

an on-going basis.    

The “Framework for FSL in Ontario Schools” states that choices in FSL programming “are best made in 

consultation with stakeholders, taking current research into consideration”. The single most important 

stakeholder in a child’s education other than the child is the parents. Parents who want their children to 

have the life-long benefits of bilingualism want to collaborate “to work together to develop options and 

solutions” (Policy No. V-18 Community Engagement & Public Consultation) and the “Framework for FSL 

in Ontario Schools” suggests a local FSL working group with parent and community representatives as a 

way to support the achievement of Ontario’s goals for FSL.   

Recommendation: 

That HCDSB convene a permanent French Second Language Working Group (or Advisory Committee) 

with parent representatives from each French program and each immersion/extended school, Trustees 

and staff that is tasked with supporting growth and excellence in FSL 
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iii. SUPPLY, RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION OF QUALIFIED FRENCH TEACHERS 

Canadian Parents for French is actively engaged with all stakeholders to ensure that the supply of 

qualified French teachers is sufficient to address current and future needs. Stakeholders include the 

federal government which is providing $31 million to support recruitment and retention efforts across 

the country, the Ministry of Colleges and Universities which is funding the Labour Market Partnership 

work being done by the Ontario Public School Board Association (OBSBA) with its Catholic partners, the 

Deans of Faculties of Education of Ontario and the Ministry of Education.    

The challenges inherent in ensuring an adequate supply of qualified teachers are not unique to French 

Immersion but the specifics in this area can be addressed with improved practices by school boards, 

such as pool hiring, sharing resources to recruit beyond Ontario and helping principals who may not 

have the French skills themselves to do effective hiring.  

On-going professional development and support for both full-time and occasional French teachers and 

principals is key to teacher retention and excellence in FSL programs. It should include topics such as the 

CEFR, DELF, supporting inclusion of all students in FSL, effective use of e-resources and developing 

professional learning communities for FSL educators 

Having an adequate supply of occasional teachers with French qualifications is a challenge and boards 

need to work with stakeholders and draw on support from the Ministry as to how to follow regulations 

on occasional teachers while ensuring students get continual teaching in French.  

Recommendation: 

That HCDSB monitor and increase opportunities for and participation in professional development 

opportunities by teachers and principals in such areas as, the CEFR, DELF, supporting inclusion of all 

students in FSL, effective use of e-resources and developing professional learning communities for FSL 

educators. 
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iv. CPF REVISED SEPT 17, 2019 DRAFT POLICY NO. 11-51 (please see Appendix D for further details) 

 

DEFINITIONS 

Extended French (EF)– develops functional proficiency in students through the provision of a minimum of 

25% of all instruction in French with students entering grade 5 in their September start date through to 

completion of 7 secondary courses in French. 

French Immersion (FI) – develops functional proficiency in students through the provision of a minimum 

of 50% of all instruction in French with students entering grades 1 in their September start date through 

to completion of 10 secondary courses in French.  

Intensive French Programs – refers to Extended French (EF) and French Immersion (FI) Programs. 

Consultation – gathering feedback from stakeholders on policies, options and/or decisions.  

 

PRINCIPLES 

1. Delivery of Intensive French Programs will be considered in the Strategic Plan and Long-Term 

Capital Plan (LTCP) and as a demonstrated/identified need arises.  

 

 

 

 

REQUIREMENTS 

1. Expansion/Location/Relocation of Intensive French Program(s): 

 

1.1 Where feasible and staffing permits, an increase of program offering of Intensive French 

Programs will occur.  

 

1.2 Relocation of current programs must include consultation with the communities being affected 

 

1.3 Whenever possible, changes to program locations will be communicated to parents and 

guardians one academic year in advance of implementation.  

 

1.4 The following criteria can be used to determine a location/relocation for an Intensive French 

Program:  

 

 

1.4.1. Locate/relocate Intensive French Programs to schools that have surplus space and have a 

stable regular track enrolment that can sustain both the Regular English and Intensive French 

programs over the long term, minimizing, if not eliminating any future relocations.  
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1.4.2 Align Intensive French Program Elementary Boundaries where possible with the ultimate 

secondary school Family of School Boundaries.  

 

1.4.3 To the extent possible, ensure that Intensive French Programs are reasonably centrally 

located to the schools they serve.  

 

1.4.5 Where feasible, when phasing in, relocating, and/or expanding to new locations for the 

Intensive French Programs, cluster the family of schools to create neighbourhood scale areas.  

 

1.5 When Intensive French Programs are being relocated, phased in, phased out, split into multiple 

locations and/or expanded into new locations, the following shall apply: 

 

1.5.1 When relocating and phasing in an existing Intensive French Program into a new 

location, the existing students can complete their studies at their current elementary 

location until the end of grade 8 or at their current secondary location until grade 12 

graduation as applicable. The selection of a new site is an administrative decision made by 

the Director of Education while relocation is subject to 1.5.3.  

 

1.5.2. The introduction and phase in of a new Intensive French Program location and 

creation of a new family of schools for the program to expand services is an administrative 

decision made by the Director of Education.  

 

1.5.3 When a portion and/or an entire Intensive French Program and its existing students are 

proposed to be relocated to another site for accommodation purposes, a full boundary 

review process is required as per the requirements of Operating Policy 1-29 School Boundary 

Review Process. The final school boundary review accommodation plan is to be approved by 

the Board of Trustees.  

 

1.5.4 When deciding to eliminate an Intensive French Program for the Halton Catholic 

District School Board, a report will be brought to the Board of Trustees for review and a vote 

for final approval.  
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2. The Director of Education has the responsibility to: 

 

 

2.1 Bring an information report to the Board of Trustees for the purpose of due notification, 

feedback, and input on changes made to location and family of schools for Intensive French 

Programs and on annual enrolment for Intensive French Programs.   

 

3. Registrations: 

 

3.1 All entry requirements and class sizes are listed in Procedure VI-53 Intensive French 

Programming.  

 

3.2 Will take place annually at the discretion of the Superintendent of Curriculum Services in 

consultation with the Senior Administrative team. Parents are to be notified of registration 

dates by the beginning of the academic year, or earlier.  

 

3.3 To facilitate meeting staffing needs, and in order to ensure all students will be given 

placement who apply, all students must be registered for FI and EF programs by December 

1st. It should be noted that where an Intensive French Program still has remaining spaces, 

Curriculum Services has the discretion to extend the registration period. 

 

3.4 Registration will occur online or at the school if required.  

 

3.5 Until such time as new locations can be phased in, if registrations exceed placements 

available, a random selection (lottery) will occur to determine which students will gain 

access to the program and the order on the waitlist.  Younger siblings will be given priority 

placement.   

 

3.6 The registration process for the Intensive French Programs shall be made available to the 

public.  
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4. Entry Requirements  

 

4.1 All entry requirements and class sizes are listed in Procedure VI-53 Intensive French 

Programming.  

 

5. Withdrawal from Program 

 

5.1 Where the needs of a student may be best served by withdrawal from the program, such 

withdrawal may take place after following the implementation of reasonable intervention 

strategies by school staff. Conferences with parent(s)/guardians(s) and students to discuss 

progress option and future implications shall be conducted prior to withdrawal. 

 

6. Transportation 

 

6.1 All transportation requirements are outlined in Policy 11-124 Home to School 

Transportation.  

 

6.2 Provision of transportation for pupils attending an Intensive French program will be in 

accordance with the transportation policy. The placement of a pupil under this policy does 

not constitute commitment of the Board to provide Transportation.  
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B. REFERENCE MATERIAL – further references available upon request 

ON Ministry of Education Documents 

A Framework for French as a Second Language in Ontario Schools, Kindergarten to Grade 12;  

Including Students with Special Education Needs in French as a Second Language Programs;  

Welcoming English Language Learners into French as a Second Language Programs; FSL Curriculum:   

http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/amenagement/FLS.html  

FSL Resources for Ontario Educators 

https://transformingfsl.ca 

EDU Funding Technical Paper, p 44:  

 http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/funding/1920/TechnicalPaper2019-20.pdf  

French Immersion in Ontario, April 2011  

http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/literacynumeracy/inspire/research/CBS_FrenchImmersion.pdf  

 

ON FSL Enrolment and Program Data, Research 

CPF State of FSL Education in Ontario:  

http://on.cpf.ca/research-advocacy/advocacy/the-state-of-fsl-education-in-ontario/  

CPF Research Report – Focus on FSL Programs 

https://cpf.ca/en/files/The-State-of-FSL-Education-in-Canada-2019-1.pdf  

CPF Research Report - Focus on FSL Teachers 

https://cpf.ca/en/files/State-of-FSL-Education-Report-Web.pdf  

 

Student Achievement in Core, Extended, Immersion 

EDU DELF Testing: http://www.edugains.ca/resourcesFSL/PDF/Research/Synopsis_FINAL-1.pdf  

French Immersion students and EQAO Performance – for the ON Ministry of Education, by Turnbull, 

Hart, Lapkin: http://on.cpf.ca/wp-content/blogs.dir/1/files/eqao-final-report-2001.pdf  

 

French Immersion 

When and Why article - by Dicks, Kristmanson http://cpf.ca/en/files/03_FI_When_and_Why_E.pdf  

Case for Early French Immersion video – by Dicks https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=I5gbdXFB8Uk  
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C. ABOUT CANADIAN PARENTS FOR FRENCH 

Canadian Parents for French (CPF) was founded in 1977 with the assistance of Canada’s first Official 

Languages Commissioner. More than 25 000 volunteer parent and stakeholder members across Canada 

promote and support opportunities for young people to learn French. CPF is the very proud recipient of 

the Commissioner of Official Languages 2016 Award of Excellence in recognition of outstanding 

contribution to linguistic duality in Canada. Commissioner Fraser, an Officer of Parliament, states in his 

2016 Annual Report that “Canadian Parents for French has been advocating at the national, provincial 

and community levels for access to quality French immersion French-second-languages programs in 

schools” and he adds his congratulations for “its exceptional work in the area of research and 

promotion” of French as a Second Language. 

CPF Ontario has served on the Minister of Education’s Provincial French as a Second Language Working 

Group and consulted with the Ministry on the development of many policy and curriculum documents, 

including the “Framework for French as a Second Language in Ontario Schools, K-12” (2013), the 

elementary and secondary curriculum for Core, Extended and Immersion French (2013, 2014), 

“Supporting Your Child’s Success in French Immersion/Extended French, K-8 (2014) and “Including 

Students with Special Education Needs in FSL” (2015).  

CPF Ontario has created and implemented many projects supported by Canadian Heritage and the 

Ministry of Education, including “O Canada” school performances, Pathways to Bilingual Success 

Conferences for students, parent webinars in support of parents and their children in FSL programs and 

our web data base  www.frenchstreet.ca  which is connecting parents and educators with opportunities 

to learn and use French in our communities and beyond. Our annual French public speaking contest, 

Concours d’Art Oratoire is going strong 35 years since its inception and is now renewed with funding 

from the Ministry, to align with the 2013-14 curriculum, authentic learning in French. Information for 

parents, data and research on FSL education are shared via our public websites www.cpf.ca and 

on.cpf.ca . 

Mary Cruden is the volunteer chair of the CPF Ontario Advocacy Committee and a member of the CPF 

National Public Policy Committee. She has served CPF in her local chapter and as president of CPF 

Ontario. She is a founding member and past parent co-chair of the French Second Language Advisory 

Committee of the Toronto District School Board. In 2015, she was recognized by the Government of 

Ontario with the Prix de la Francophonie in recognition of her work to make French Second Language 

programs in Ontario equitable and effective. In 2018, Mary was recognized by the Ontario Modern 

Language Teachers’ Association (OMLTA) with an Honourary Membership and in 2019, she received the 

CPF Ontario Mlack Award for volunteerism in CPF.  

Betty Gormley is executive director of CPF Ontario. She has led many projects to assist French Second 

Language learning and works daily with our partners, such as the OMLTA , Glendon College, Collège 

Boréal, L’Assemblée de la francophonie de l’Ontario, TFO Éducation (Idéllo) and Camp Tournesol. In 

2014, OMLTA recognized Betty for her work in advancing French Second Language education in Ontario 

with an Honourary Membership.                         

CPF Ontario Contacts: bgormley@cpf.on.ca (905-366-1012 ext 2); mcruden@cpf.on.ca  
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Appendix D  

November 14, 2019 

Annotated Sept 17, 2019 Draft Policy No. 11-51 

DEFINITIONS 

Extended French (EF)– develops functional proficiency in students through the provision of a minimum 

of 25% significant amount of curriculumall instruction in  with French as the second language of 

instruction with students entering grade 5  in their September start date through to completion of 7 

secondary courses in French. 

French Immersion (FI) – develops functional proficiency in students through the provision of a minimum 

of 50% a significant amount of curriculum with all instruction in French as the second language of 

instruction with students entering grades 1 in their September start date through to completion of 10 

secondary courses in French.  

Intensive French Programs – refers to Extended French (EF) and French Immersion (FI) Programs. 

Consultation – gathering feedback from stakeholders on policies, options and/or decisions.  

PRINCIPLES 

1. Delivery of Intensive French language pPrograms will be considered in the Strategic Plan and 

Long-Term Capital Plan (LTCP) and as a demonstrated/identified need arises.  

REQUIREMENTS 

1. Expansion/Location/Relocation of OptionalIntensive  French Program(s): 

 

1.1 Where feasible and staffing permits, an increase of program offering of optionalIntensive French 

Programs will occur.  

 

1.2 Relocation of current programs must include consultation with the communities being affected 

 

 

1.3 Whenever possible, changes to program locations will be communicated to parents and 

guardians one academic year in advance of implementation.  

 

1.4 The following criteria can be used to determine a location/relocation for an optionalIntensive 

French Program:  

 

 

1.4.1. Locate/Rrelocate optionalIntensive French Programs to schools that have surplus space 

and have a stable regular track enrolment that can sustain both the Regular English and 

Intensive French programs over the long term, minimizing, if not eliminating any future 

relocations.  

Commented [m1]: This is how the Ministry defines it. FSL 
Framework, p 39. 

Commented [m2]: This helps to encapsulate the 
commitment on the part of the Board to the 
parents/students that FI/EF kids through to actual 
graduation in G12, not just G8. Consistent with EDU goals in 
the Framework, increase students completing to G12.  

Commented [m3]: This is how the Ministry defines it. FSL 
Framework, p 40. Go below 50% and you bump down to EF. 

Commented [m4]: ‘Optional’ is a term that gives EF/FI 
second rate status. Once a student starts, it is their ‘regular’ 
program until G12 graduation. Better term is ‘intensive 
French programs’ or just call them EF/FI. Regardless, define 
the catchall term as it is used throughout and it needs to 
differentiate from Core which is mandated.  

Commented [m5]: Consistent with info in 1.4.  

Commented [m6]: It was unclear which program this 
referenced. By saying both, we are committing to 
sustainable, robust programs for ALL students, not just 
those in the regular program.  
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1.4.2 T the extent possible, ensure that the optional French Programs are in schools that can 

accommodate the program over the long-term, minimizing, if not eliminating any future 

relocations.  

 

1.4.3 Ensure the location of the optional French programs do not adversely affect the Regular 

Track program.  

 

1.4.4 Align optionalIntensive French Program Elementary Boundaries where possible with the 

ultimate secondary school Family of School Boundaries.  

 

1.4.5 To the extent possible, ensure that optionalIntensive French Programs are reasonably 

centrally located to the schools they serve.  

 

1.4.6 Where feasible, when phasing in, relocating, and/or expanding to new locations for the 

optionalIntensive French Programs, cluster the family of schools to create neighbourhood scale 

areas.  

 

1.5 When optionalIntensive French Programs are being relocated, phased in, phased out, split into 

multiple locations and/or expanded into new locations, the following shall apply: 

 

1.5.1 When relocating and phasing in an existing optionalIntensive French Program into a 

newnother location, the existing students can complete their studies at their current 

elementary location until the end of grade 8 or at their current secondary location until 

grade 12 graduation as applicable. The relocation and selection of a new site is an 

administrative decision made by the Director of Education while relocation is subject to 

1.5.3. as per Section 3 of this policy.  

 

1.5.2. The introduction and phase in of a new optionalIntensive French Program location 

and creation of a new family of schools for the program to expand services is an 

administrative decision made by the Director of Education. as per Section 3 of this policy.  

 

Commented [m7]: Not sure what this means. If it is 
means a sustainable regular program, it is now captured in 
1.4.1.  

Commented [m8]: In official documents, graduation is a 
term for grade 12 when you get the diploma. Eventually FI 
students will go to grade 12 as EF students do and there 
may be new secondary FI sites. So, if this commitment to 
grandfathering is just in elementary, it should specify.   

Commented [m9]: Don’t see need to repeat this 
delegation of authority in Section 3. Stating it once and 
clearly here is sufficient.  

Commented [m10]: Don’t see need to repeat this 
delegation of authority to the Director in Section 3. Stating 
it once and clearly here is sufficient.  

14



3 
 

1.5.3 When a portion and/or an entire optionalIntensive French Program and its existing 

students are proposed to be relocated to another site for accommodation purposes, a full 

boundary review process is required as per the requirements of Operating Policy 1-29 

School Boundary Review Process. The final school boundary review accommodation plan is 

to be approved by the Board of Trustees.  

 

1.5.4 When deciding to eliminate an OptionalIntensive  French Program for the Halton 

Catholic District School Board (either French Immersion or Extended French), a report will 

be brought to the Board of tTrustees for review and a vote for final approval.  

 

2. The Director of Education has the discretion and responsibility to: 

 

2.1 Relocate an optional French program in an elementary of secondary school where the 

need arises.  

 

2.2 Identify new locations where optional French program can be offered.  

 

2.3 Bring an information report to the Board of Trustees for the purpose of due notification, 

feedback, and input onWhere changes are made to location and family of schools for 

optionalIntensive French Programs and on annual enrolment for Intensive French Programs. 

, the Director will bring an information report to the Board of Trustees for the purpose of 

due notification, feedback, and input.  

 

3. Registrations: 

 

3.1 All entry requirements and class sizes are listed in Procedure VI-53 OptionalIntensive 

French Programming.  

 

3.2 Will take place annually at the discretion of the Superintendent of Curriculum Services in 

consultation with the Senior Administrative team. Parents are to be notified of registration 

dates by the beginning of the academic year, or earlier.  

 

Commented [m11]: These 2 points are already covered in 
1.5.1, 1.5.2.  
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3.3 To facilitate meeting staffing needs, and in order to ensure all students will be given 

placement who apply, all students must be registered for EFI and EF programs by December 

1st. It should be noted that where an optionalIntensive French pProgram still has remaining 

spaces, Curriculum Services has the discretion to extend the registration period. 

 

3.4 Registration will occur on lineonline or at the school if required.  

 

3.5 Until such time as new locations can be phased in, if registrations exceed placements 

available, Aa random selection (lottery) will occur to determine which students will gain 

access to the program and as the order on the waitlist.  should one exist. Younger siblings 

will be given priority placement.   

 

3.6 The registration process for the optionalIntensive French Programs shall be made 

available to the public.  

 

4. Entry Requirements  

 

4.1 All entry requirements and class sizes are listed in Procedure VI-53 OptionalIntensive 

French Programming.  

 

5. Withdrawal from Program 

 

5.1 Where the needs of a student may be best served by withdrawal from the program, such 

withdrawal may take place after following the implementation of reasonable intervention 

strategies by school staff. Conferences with parent(s)/guardians(s) and students to discuss 

progress option and future implications shall be conducted prior to withdrawal. 

 

6. Transportation 

 

6.1 All transportation requirements are outlined in Policy 11-124 Home to School 

Transportation.  

 

Commented [m12]: Already decided to call it FI. 
However, that was an unnecessary change. EFI is what the 
program is called from JK-G12 because it differentiates it by 
start time. MFI is middle French immersion (TDSB, OCDSB) 
that starts in G4 and LFI is late French immersion (in BC) 
that starts in G6.  

Commented [m13]: The lottery with the sibling rule are 
an emergency escape, a short term way to deal with a 
shortage of spots until capacity is sufficiently increased to 
accommodate all registrants. Add new locations, the need 
for the lottery with the sibling rule will start to disappear. 
The December registration period for the Sept following 
allows the Director to add the locations before spring 
staffing allocations and in time for SK parents to plan their 
lives for Grade 1.  

Commented [m14]: Procedure will need to be updated to 
align with Policy.  
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6.2 Provision of transportation for pupils attending an optionalIntensive French program will 

be in accordance with the transportation policy. The placement of a pupil under this policy 

does not constitute commitment of the Board to provide Transportation.  

7. Specific to Secondary Schools: 

7.1 For the municipalities of Milton and Burlington, the regular stream secondary school 

boundary is one and the same as the Extended French boundary. As such, although students 

are permitted to attend the program, they will not be offered transportation if they reside 

outside the designated school boundary.  

Commented [m15]: This information is in Procedure VI-
53 and as such, does not need to be in the policy. If they 
want to leave secondary in, this should just reference the 
Procedure like it does in section 4.  
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FSL Delegation: 
 
   Good evening everyone, Board of Trustees, staff members, ladies and 
gentlemen present here tonight. My name is Javier Rubatto and I am an 
Early French Immersion Parent here in Halton Catholic District School 
Board; I have 2 children, my oldest child is in grade 6 and my youngest is in 
grade 2, they both go to Sacred Heart of Jesus elementary School here in 
Burlington and they are both already part of the Early French Immersion 
Program. 
 
I would like to talk to you this evening about some of the benefits and the 
Importance of F.S.L (French as a second language) programing, 
specifically I will be speaking about EFI the Early French Immersion 
program in our board. I would also like to talk to you about Policy 11-51 
Optional French Programming (French Immersion and Extended French) 
and the importance of having this policy approved by the majority of 
Trustees here tonight with clauses like: Sibling Ruling that would help 
families by allowing ones with two or more children, to have them all at the 
same school. 
 
I believe that all of us here tonight know, understand and value the benefits 
of having French as a Second Language in Canada, and in Ontario, since it 
brings to an individual more opportunities academically, professionally and 
personally.  A person who is proficient in French and English, may have 
more job opportunities, higher retention rates, higher rate pay, more 
opportunity to Travel and relocate in other parts of Canada and the world. 
 
Therefore, it should be of no surprise that parents like myself, in Halton and 
across Ontario, see the value and benefits of giving our kids the opportunity 
to learn French as a Second Language. The proof of this demand is also 
the demand and growth of the EFI programs across Ontario and across 
various school boards, including the HCDSB. Many parents from our board 
are still on waitlists, hoping that their children are accepted into the EFI 
Program. Using a two-year Registration and Waitlist average rate from: 
2018-2019 and 2019 to 2020 for HCDSB, we see that for the EFI Program 
the combined number of applicants to this program was 319, and the 
number of spaces available was only 184 spots. This gives us a 
percentage of 57.6% average rate of placement. Which means that almost 
half of the applicants did not get into the program. It also means that the 
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average rate of demand is 42.3% greater than that of the supply, there is 
almost twice the number of applicants to the number spaces available.  
 
What do this numbers and percentages actually mean? They mean 
that these are Catholic Families from our board whose children are 
registered in HCDSB, and that have applied to the EFI program and have 
not been able to secure a spot in this program at our Board. These families 
could potentially leave our board and go to a different board in Halton or 
elsewhere, in where they would be able to register their children to an EFI 
program. I believe that it would be a great mistake from our part to let these 
families leave without attempting to find a solution to their problem. 
 
Your next question to me might be. How do you know that these 
families who are in waitlists and who are not getting into EFI program 
at HCDSB are or will leaving our Board?  
 
My answer is simple: “Because at one my point my family was one of this 
families”, Before my son was accepted into the EFI program, my wife and I 
had decided that although our faith was very important to us, as we are 
practicing Catholics. We would not allow one of our kids to have the 
benefits of being proficient French and not the other. In the event my son 
Jeremy had not gotten into the EFI program, as a family, we would have 
transferred to the Halton Public board, were there aren’t any caps for the 
EFI program, and we could have registered both our kids there. Luckily for 
us Jeremy was also accepted into the program. 
Like my family, we know many other families from our board in the same 
situation, and unfortunately, they have not all been as lucky as we have. 
Some them their kids have not being able to secure a spot in the EFI 
program and as a result they have left our board for good. These were also 
good Catholic families that we have lost. 
 
Furthermore, I would also like to present some more retention data from 
the HCDSB to further corroborate this point. I would like to use The 2019 
Parent Satisfaction Survey, conducted by our Board earlier this year. In 
this Survey 3,230 families from our board participated, of whom 71% or 
2284 were families from children from Elementary schools, the rest 29% or 
946 were from Secondary School. This survey stated that in 2019, 204 
families had considered leaving our board in the last 6 months, of that 
number 58% or 119 had considered leaving our board due to a program or 
service offered at our board, and 11%or 22 of them were leaving our board 
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to attend a track or program not available at our board; of that 11% almost 
the majority of those families 20 of 22 specifically stated that they were 
leaving our board for another Board in Halton because they did not get into 
the EFI program.   
 
This is just some of the data that has been collected regarding this matter 
and that is publicly available to us from those families who chose to 
participate in the survey and chose to state the reason why they thought of 
leaving our board. I believe that the number of families that thought of 
leaving and that have left our board because they did not get into EFI to be 
much greater than that. 
 
How do we fix this problem? How do we keep these good Catholic 
families from leaving our Board?  
 
The answer is simple. We expand the EFI Program to allow more Catholic 
families to get in. This Board has done an amazing job of providing 
excellence in academics while also teaching solid Catholic values and 
having a strong Catholic faith. That is fantastic! Congratulations all of you 
on such a wonderful job! That is why this board is so highly sought out by 
families and why is our first choice. However, let me ask you, what good is 
it to have the best Catholic board in Ontario, with the best academics, a 
strong faith and strong catholic values if we are losing Catholic families 
from our own community? Catholic families are the foundation of our 
Schools and Communities. They are our priority! They should not be lost. 
 
Communities change with time and their needs also change. The solutions 
for problems yesterday may not apply today and the solutions of today may 
not work tomorrow. Nothing ever stays the same. As a Board we need to 
not only accept that change is fact of life, it cannot be rejected but should it 
be embraced. Our Board should also be flexible and should evolve and 
change with our communities. Our Catholic families want their kids to 
learn French in the EFI program while still providing their kids with a solid 
education and a solid catholic faith, and they are looking to this board for 
direction and a solution. HCDSB should not turn this families away and 
reject their plea, HCDSB should offer them support and direction and find a 
solution to this challenge.  
 
How do we Expand Our EFI Program Despite the Challenges? 
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 One of the major challenges of why we cannot expand our EFI program 
has been shortage of Qualified French Catholic teachers. 

I would like to ask our Human Resource Department Executive officer Mr. 
O’hara the following questions: 

Are we really looking everywhere to find Qualified French Catholic 
Teachers? In March of 2017, according to the list provided to the Ad-Hoc 
Committee (March 28/17presentation) a large number of job fairs were 
attended by HCDSB staff. The 2 largest francophone Faculties of 
Education in Ontario are at the University of Ottawa and Laurentian. Why 
was only the anglophone University of Ottawa fair attended? What about 
the francophone job fair? It is unclear if the francophone Laurentian fair 
was attended. In Quebec, only McGill was visited (anglophone). Why not 
the 2 largest francophone Faculties of Education in Quebec - Laval and 
University of Montreal? Sherbrook, Bishops, Concordia and University of 
Quebec were also neglected in Quebec. Shouldn’t more resources be 
directed to Quebec? New Brunswick, the only officially bilingual province in 
Canada, was not visited.  

 Have those figures changed now in 2019 Mr. Ohara? Are we now 
attending French job fairs as well as Anglo-phone fairs for recruitment? Are 
we visiting more Francophone Universities in Quebec? Do we have access 
to Unemployed or Part-time Teachers Lists from Quebec? Are we using 
social media? Are we contacting the Quebec Catholic Dioceses to find 
Qualified French Catholic Teachers? How are we thinking outside the box? 

There are 45% of Quebec Teachers without Permanent positions that is 
46000 teachers. The teacher salary in Quebec is on average 15% lower 
than an Ontario Teacher and they also pay higher taxes in Quebec as well. 
Are we really doing everything we can to tap into this market? Or can we 
do better?  
 
At this point I would like to bring some data from our neighboring boards: 
The Hamilton-Wentworth Catholic District School Board has added 2 new 
EFI sites for the 2019-2020 school year, they don’t have any caps for EFI 
starting in SK and they have sibling ruling as well. Waterloo Catholic 
District School Board has also added two more sites for 2019-2020 and 
they have sibling ruling. Our counter part Halton District School Board 
doesn’t have any caps in their EFI program. Most Boards Catholic and 
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Public across Ontario are doing more than we are, but for time sake I will 
not give any more examples, but please feel free to research this topic on 
your own if you wish to do comparisons. 
 
So, my next question then becomes, how are these neighboring Catholic 
boards some of them smaller than ours, able to expand their EFI programs 
if they are also facing the same shortage challenges that we are, Is it that 

they are trying harder than we are? Or is it something else? 
 
It has come up at different times, during different board meetings by some 
Staff members, that there is a concern that if we expand the EFI program, 
maybe Our regular English stream of kids would suffer. That they might 
have to go into split classes, since more parents might choose the EFI 
option over the regular stream option, and there would be less English kids 
to fill up a classroom”; “This should not be the case in an English 
board, that’s what French boards are for”. “In an English Catholic 
board, Regular English Stream students should have priority not the 
other way around”.  I believe this to be the real reason why we are not 
expanding the Early French Immersion at our HCDSB. 
 
I would like to first address the first misconception, which is that The 
French Catholic Board is a viable option, its actually not, because in order 
to qualify to register one’s children in the French Board, the parents must 
also be francophone. All the correspondence is in French, as is the 
homework, parent teacher interviews and all School culture and activities. 
Most parents from our board would not be able to participate in their kids’ 
education and the school culture and life, since most of us don’t speak 
French proficiently, that is why is the French Board is not a viable option for 
many of us. 
 
Secondly, I would like to address the fear that our regular stream English 
kids from HCDSB would be losing out to the French Immersion program 
and their class size and other resources would be negatively impacted as 
weIl. I would like to tell you that I understand your fears and your concerns 
over this issue, However, let me also state that Fear should never be a 
deciding factor as to why we make or stop making crucial decisions.  
What is on the line here is: The future of our kids and their ability to 
acquire language skills that will help them compete in a very competitive 
world. What is also on the line is: For our board to be able to retain 
Catholic families from leaving our Board and going elsewhere. 
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 The case that I am making before you this evening is not one of English 
vs. French where I want French to win, Not at all. The case that I am 
making, is one where We are all winners! Our kids win because they will 
acquire a set of Language skills that will give them more professional and 
personal opportunities in the future, our catholic families win because they 
are able to provide their children with the skills they believe will help them 
in the future while maintaining a great education and a strong Catholic faith, 
and our Board also wins because we are able to not turn away Catholic 
Families, and by fulfilling our mission statement which is: “The Halton 
Catholic District School Board, in partnership with home and Church, 
is dedicated to providing excellence in Catholic education by 
developing Christ-centred individuals enabled to transform society.” 
Please I urge you, do not let FEAR keep our students, our community and 
our board from achieving what we have set out to do, let’s be leaders in our 
community and let’s find solutions to this and any other challenge that 
comes our way. I really believe that we can. 
 
Lastly, I would like to repeat a saying that my father would tell me when I 
was a kid. It was in Spanish so I’d like to apologize in advance for the poor 
translation, and I hope that I’m still able to communicate the jest of it. 
“There isn’t someone who is more blind than the person who doesn’t wish 
to see, nor there is someone who is more deaf than the person who doesn’t 
wish to hear”. 
 My colleagues and I have always been transparent and have provided this 
board with all the facts and all the information available to us regarding this 
matter. It is now up to you, to evaluate this information and to make an 
educated decision on this matter. I would just like to ask you to please open 
your minds and hearts so you too can see that there are solutions to this 
problem and that they are not impossible. Please expand EFI. Thank you 
again for your time and for this opportunity to share my views with you. 
Have a good night everyone. 
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Delegation by Kathleen Fiesta 
 
 
Good Evening! Thank you, Trustees, for this opportunity to delegate. My name is Kathleen Fiesta. 
I have 4 kids. For the purpose of keeping our privacy I will refer to them as K1 (9), K2 (7), K3 (4), 
and K4 (1). This year has been quite challenging for the whole family. Before this school year 
started, my husband and I decided to move K2 from our Catholic board home school to our public 
board home school. This is because we want all our children to have equal opportunity in learning 
the other official language in Canada which is French. My eldest K1 was accepted to EFI in Grade 
1 and he currently attends school at St. Mary. My third child K3 is attending kindergarten in our 
Catholic home school. I tried applying her for cross boundary which was denied a few times due 
to school capacity. Day to day our school drop-offs consist of all the 4 kids being ready by 7:55 
am and starting to walk to our public board home school as its morning bell is at 8:10 am. After 
dropping off K2, my 3 kids with their Auntie will walk back to the house to wait for K1's school 
bus that comes around 8:39 am. Once K1 has been picked up, K3, K4, and their Auntie will start 
walking to our Catholic board home school just in time for their morning bell at 9:00 am. In the 
afternoon, this whole process starts again at 2:45 pm in our public board home school to pick-up 
K2. Then they walk to our Catholic board home school to pick up K3 at 3:20 pm. Once the two 
kids are both picked up, they hurry back to the house as K1 gets dropped off by the school bus at 
3:40 pm. Last week, when we had that snowy day and the school bus was cancelled and it really 
threw off our schedule. Their Auntie with my 1-year old son K4 had to drop off and pick up his 3 
siblings to school. Two months in this routine, I’m starting to realize how taxing this is for my 
youngest son K4. He is constantly out and about bringing his siblings to their schools. He is also 
not napping well during the day due to this. Our resilience is going to get tested again this 
Thursday evening for Parent Teacher interview. As both my husband and I work during the day, 
we need to go to three different schools to meet with our three kids’ teachers all in that one 
evening. K2 will be getting first communion this Spring. But since he goes to a public school, he 
now must attend 14 religion classes at St. Matthew’s church every Wednesday evening. 
 
You’re probably thinking I am crazy for doing this. But being immigrants coming to Canada, we 
want to embrace what this country has to offer, and this means having all our kids learn both 
English and French fluently. In addition to them knowing our native language which is Tagalog. 
My husband and I are praying and hoping that a slot would open for K2 next year in grade 3 at 
St. Mary’s. I believe their Grade 2 EFI currently have a few slots available. We are being optimistic 
it stays that way. This will bring down our number of schools to two which is what we’ve been 
managing previously. The Silver lining in all of this is that on K2’s first day when I picked him up 
he told me that he is enjoying learning French and has made a few friends in his new school. 
There are also a few times I would hear both K1 and K2 speak French to each other. I also see K1 
helping K2 with his French homework. Seeing how learning French has kept my boys engaged 
and challenged, it makes all the sacrifice worth it. We will do the same approach for K3 and K4 if 
they do not ‘win’ a spot for grade 1 EFI in Halton Catholic School Board. 
 
Being a Catholic board, I would hope that it would be more supportive of families. With the sibling 
rule, the challenges I described earlier that occurs in families that have multiple kids would have 
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been avoided. It would have provided families peace of mind that when they sign-up for the EFI 
program they would not have to pick from their kids on who can and cannot go. It would make 
families more vested in the program knowing that their kids are in it till completion in the 
program. It would also provide higher retention rate when sibling(s) are in the same program 
versus when not. Thank you. 
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Date (2019) Item Description of Activity

November 19th Draft Audited Financial Statements Audit Committee Approval and Presentation of Audit Findings Report 

Est. November 19th Draft Audited Financial Statements Board Approval

Est. November 22nd  Ministry Memorandum 2019: SB:15 Submission of Ministry Financial Statement Forms (EFIS) & Final Audited Financial Statements (signed)

Est. November 22nd Final Audited Financial Statements Place on Board's Public Website and Staffnet (signed)

Est. November 25th Final Audited Financial Statements Publish notice in local newspapers [in accordance with Section 252(2) of the Education Act]

Est. December 13th Management Letter (Draft) Draft Management Letter received from KPMG

Est. January 17th Management Letter (Final) Receive Final Management Letter from KPMG

Est. January 31st Management Letter (Draft) Present Draft Management Letter with management responses at Administrative Council

Est. February 3rd Management Letter (Final) Send the Management Letter with management responses to the Audit Committee

Est. February 7th Management Letter (Final)
Send Final Management Letter to all Principals/Vice-Principals through numbered Business Services 

Memo

Est. February 7th Management Letter (Final) Send the specific Management Letter points to the four selected schools and respective Superintendent 

Halton Catholic District School Board 2018-2019 Year-End Schedule
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Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Halton Catholic District School Board are 

the responsibility of the Board management and have been prepared in accordance with the Financial 

Administration Act, supplemented by Ontario Ministry of Education memorandum 2004:B2 and 

Ontario Regulation 395/11 of the Financial Administration Act, as described in Note 1 to the 

consolidated financial statements.   

A summary of the significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 

statements.  The preparation of consolidated financial statements necessarily involves the use of 

estimates based on management’s judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current 

accounting period cannot be finalized with certainty until future periods. 

Board management maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in 
compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is available 
on a timely basis for preparation of the consolidated financial statements. These systems are 
monitored and evaluated by management. 

The Audit Committee meets with management and the external auditors to review the consolidated 
financial statements and discuss any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to 
the Boards approval of the consolidated financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent external 
auditors appointed by the Board. The accompanying Independent Auditors’ Report outlines their 
responsibilities, the scope of their examination and their opinion on the Board’s consolidated financial 
statements. 

 

 

 

Patrick Daly 

Director of Education 

and Secretary of the Board 

 Aaron Lofts 

Superintendent of Business Services 

and Treasurer of the Board 

 
November 19, 2019 
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To the Board of Trustees of the Halton Catholic District School Board: 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of the Halton Catholic District School 

Board (“the Entity”), which comprise:  

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at August 31, 2019 

 the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of changes in net debt for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of cash flows and for the year then ended 

 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies. 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of the Entity as at August 31, 2019, and its results of 

operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the basis of 

accounting described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of 

our report.  

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the applicable independence 

standards, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these standards.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 

organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 

to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 

related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no 

realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 

reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 

standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

 The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s 

internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 

management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern 

basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 

material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 

in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity 

public to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
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represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 

fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 

matters, 

 the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 

our audit. 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Hamilton, Canada 

November 19, 2019 
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 
As at August 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
 

  2019 2018 

 

Financial Assets 
 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 60,857,515 $ 38,704,728 
Accounts receivable (note 2) 18,202,065 20,306,024 
Long-term receivable - Government of Ontario (note 3) 171,328,709 176,617,129 

Total financial assets 250,388,289 235,627,881 
 

Financial Liabilities 
 
Temporary borrowing (note 4) 88,100,000 32,000,000 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 32,664,501 23,596,367 
Deferred revenue (note 5) 34,800,985 38,512,185 
Retirement and other employee future benefits payable (note 6) 5,941,720 6,020,237 
Net long-term liabilities (note 7) 158,222,446 169,959,386 
Deferred capital contributions (note 8) 435,239,109 417,472,749 

Total financial liabilities 754,968,761 687,560,924 

 
Net debt (504,580,472) (451,933,043) 
 

Non-Financial Assets 
 
Prepaid expenses 316,113 380,429 
Tangible capital assets (note 9) 649,351,094 580,546,805 

Total non-financial assets 649,667,207 580,927,234 

 

Accumulated surplus (note 10) $ 145,086,735 $ 128,994,191 
 
Contractual obligations and contingent liabilities (note 15) 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
 
    
Patrick Daly,  Peter DeRosa, 
Director of Education and  Chair of the Board 
Secretary of the Board 
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
Consolidated Statement of Operations 
 
For the year ended August 31, 2019 with comparative information for 2018 
 

  2019 2019 2018 
 Budget Actual Actual  

 
Revenues: 

Provincial legislative grants  
(note 11) $ 377,935,329 $ 384,687,145 $ 362,833,408 

Provincial grants – other 3,639,883 5,350,845 7,864,501 
  381,575,212 390,037,990 370,697,909 
 
Federal grants and fees 2,610,287 2,424,254 2,946,857 
Other fees and revenues 14,420,650 15,930,230 15,458,634 
Investment income 150,000 649,076 216,625 
School fundraising  13,000,000 12,923,555 12,568,400 
Amortization of deferred  

capital contributions 16,115,077 15,420,440 17,722,821 

Total revenues 427,871,226 437,385,545 419,611,246 
 
Expenses: 

Instruction 324,276,518 325,571,714 312,446,698 
Administration 10,883,824 11,278,814 11,157,400 
Transportation 9,432,019 9,045,929 7,919,577 
Pupil accommodation 59,453,280 60,469,838 59,975,022 
Other 1,916,375 2,041,378 5,293,564 
School funded activities  13,000,000 12,885,328 12,423,689 

Total expenses (note 12) 418,962,016 421,293,001 409,215,950 
 

Annual surplus 8,909,210 16,092,544 10,395,296 
 
Accumulated surplus,  

beginning of year  128,994,191 128,994,191 118,598,895 
 
Accumulated surplus,  

end of year (note 10) $ 137,903,401 $ 145,086,735 $ 128,994,191 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Debt 
 
For the year ended August 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
 

  2019 2019 2018 
 Budget Actual Actual  

 
Annual surplus $ 8,909,211 $ 16,092,544 $ 10,395,296 
 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (85,512,435) (85,512,437) (31,629,518) 
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets – – 1,901,097 
Write off of tangible capital assets – – 124,118 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 17,337,861   16,708,148 17,053,376 
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets – 10,286,446 34,019,470 
Gain on sale allocated to deferred revenue – (10,286,446) (27,967,246) 
Disposal of assets held for sale – – (5,996,436) 
Use of prepaid expenses – 64,316   (25,938) 

Change in net debt (59,265,363) (52,647,429) (2,125,781) 
 
Net debt, beginning of year  (451,933,043) (451,933,043)  (449,807,262) 
 
Net debt, end of year $ (511,198,406) $ (504,580,472) $  (451,933,043) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
For the year ended August 31, 2019, with comparative information for 2018 
 

  2019 2018 

 
Cash provided by (used in): 

 
Operating Activities: 
Annual surplus $ 16,092,544 $ 10,395,296 
Items not involving cash: 

Gain transferred to deferred revenue (10,286,446) (27,967,246) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 16,708,148 17,053,376 
Change in employee future benefits (78,517) 40,881 
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (15,420,440) (17,722,821) 
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets – 2,025,215 

Change in non-cash assets and liabilities: 
Accounts receivable 2,103,959  (938,992) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9,068,134 6,112,801 
Deferred revenue (13,997,646) (5,342,230) 
Prepaid expenses 64,316   (25,938) 

Net change in cash from operating activities 4,254,052 (16,369,658) 
 

Capital Activities: 
Net proceeds on the sale of assets 10,286,446 34,019,470 
Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (85,512,437) (31,629,518)  

Net change in cash from capital activities (75,225,991) 2,389,952  
 
Financing Activities: 

Increase to deferred capital contributions 33,186,800 29,043,388 
Decrease in long-term receivable 

- Government of Ontario 5,288,420 2,886,231 
Debt principal repayments (11,736,940) (11,164,925)  
Increase in deferred revenues - capital 10,286,446   27,967,246   

Net change in cash from financing activities 37,024,726 48,731,940 
 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (33,947,213) 34,752,234 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6,704,728 (28,047,506) 
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ (27,242,485) $ 6,704,728 
 
The components of cash and cash equivalents are as follows: 
 

  2019 2018 

 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 60,857,515 $ 38,704,728 
Temporary borrowings (88,100,000) (32,000,000) 
 

  $ (27,242,485) $ 6,704,728  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended August 31, 2019 
 

 

5

1. Significant accounting policies: 

The consolidated financial statements of the Halton Catholic District School Board (the “Board”) 

are prepared by management in accordance with the basis of accounting described below. 

Significant accounting policies of the Board are as follows:  

(a) Basis of accounting: 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial 

Administration Act supplemented by Ontario Ministry of Education memorandum 2004:B2 

and Ontario Regulation 395/11 of the Financial Administration Act.   

The Financial Administration Act requires that the consolidated financial statements be 

prepared in accordance with the accounting principles determined by the relevant Ministry of 

the Province of Ontario.  A directive was provided by the Ontario Ministry of Education within 

memorandum 2004:B2 requiring school boards to adopt Canadian public sector accounting 

standards commencing with their year ended August 31, 2004 and that changes may be 

required to the application of these standards as a result of regulation. 

In 2011, the government passed Ontario Regulation 395/11 of the Financial Administration 

Act.  The Regulation requires that contributions received or receivable for the acquisition or 

development of depreciable tangible capital assets and contributions of depreciable tangible 

capital assets for use in providing services, be recorded as deferred capital contributions and 

be recognized as revenue in the statement of operations over the periods during which the 

asset is used to provide service at the same rate that amortization is recognized in respect of 

the related asset.  The regulation further requires that if the net book value of the depreciable 

tangible capital asset is reduced for any reason other than depreciation, a proportionate 

reduction of the deferred capital contribution along with a proportionate increase in the 

revenue be recognized. For Ontario school boards, these contributions include government 

transfers, externally restricted contributions and, historically, property tax revenue.  

The accounting policy requirements under Regulation 395/11 are significantly different from 

the requirements of Canadian public sector accounting standards which requires that:  

• government transfers, which do not contain a stipulation that creates a liability, be 

recognized as revenue by the recipient  when approved by the transferor and the 

eligibility criteria have been met in accordance with public sector accounting standard 

PS3410; 

• externally restricted contributions be recognized as revenue in the period in which the 

resources are used for the purpose or purposes specified in accordance with public 

sector accounting standard PS3100; and   

• property taxation revenue be reported as revenue when received or receivable in 

accordance with public sector accounting standard PS3510.  
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended August 31, 2019 
 

 

6 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(a) Basis of accounting (continued): 

As a result, revenue recognized in the consolidated statement of operations and certain 

related deferred revenues and deferred capital contributions would be recorded differently 

under Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. 

(b) Reporting entity: 

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of 

the reporting entity.  The reporting entity is comprised of all organizations accountable for the 

administration of their financial affairs and resources to the Board and which are controlled by 

the Board. 

School generated funds, which include the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of 

various organizations that exist at the school level and which are controlled by the Board are 

reflected in the consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated entities: 

• School Generated Funds 

Proportionately consolidated entities: 

• Halton Student Transportation Services 

Interdepartmental and inter-organizational transactions and balances between these 

organizations are eliminated. 

(c) Trust funds: 

Trust funds and their related operations administered by the Board are not included in the 

consolidated financial statements, as these funds are not controlled by the Board. 

(d) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand and short-term investments.  Short-

term investments are highly liquid, subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and have a 

short maturity term of less than 90 days or are highly liquid. 

(e) Deferred revenue: 

Certain amounts are received pursuant to legislation, regulation or agreement and may only 

be used in the conduct of certain programs or in the delivery of specific services and 

transactions.  These amounts are recognized as revenue in the fiscal year the related 

expenses are incurred or services performed. 
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended August 31, 2019 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f)  Deferred capital contributions: 

Contributions received or receivable for the purpose of acquiring or developing depreciable 

tangible capital assets for use in providing services, or any contributions of depreciable 

tangible assets received or receivable for use in providing services, are recorded as deferred 

capital contributions when the asset has been acquired as required by Ontario Regulation 

395/11. Amounts are recognized as revenue in the statement of operations at the same rate 

and over the same periods as the related asset is amortized. 

(g) Retirement and other employee future benefits: 

The Board provides defined retirement and other future benefits to specified employee 

groups. These benefits include pension, life insurance, health care benefits, dental benefits, 

retirement gratuity, worker’s compensation and long-term disability benefits. As part of ratified 

labour collective agreements for unionized employees that bargain centrally and ratified 

central discussions with the Principals and Vice-Principals Associations, the following 

Employee Life and Health Trusts (ELHTs) were established in 2016-2017: OECTA. The 

following ELHTs were established in 2017-2018: APSSP, CUPE, ONE-T for non-unionized 

employees including principals and vice-principals – choose groups relevant to the Board.  

The ELHTs provide health, dental and life insurance benefits to teachers (excluding daily 

occasional teachers), education workers (excluding casual and temporary staff), and other 

school board staff. Currently ONE-T ELHT also provides benefits to individuals who are 

retired prior to the Board’s participation date in the ELHT. These benefits are provided 

through a joint governance structure between the bargaining/employee groups, school board 

trustees associations and the Government of Ontario.   Boards no longer administer health, 

life and dental plans for their employees and instead are required to fund the ELHTs on a 

monthly basis based on a negotiated amount per full-time equivalency (FTE). Funding for the 

ELHTs is based on the existing benefits funding embedded within the Grants for Student 

Needs (GSN), including additional ministry funding in the form of a Crown contribution and 

Stabilization Adjustment.   

Depending on prior arrangements and employee groups, the Board provides health, dental 

and life insurance benefits for retired individuals that were previously represented by the 

following unions/federations: OECTA and CUPE.  

The Board has adopted the following policies with respect to accounting for these employee 

benefits: 
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended August 31, 2019 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(g) Retirement and other employee future benefits (continued): 

The costs of self-insured retirement and other employee future benefit plans are actuarially 

determined using management’s best estimate of salary escalation, accumulated sick days at 

retirement, insurance and health care costs trends, disability recovery rates, long-term 

inflation rates and discount rates. In prior years, the cost of retirement gratuities that vested or 

accumulated over the periods of service provided by the employee were actuarially 

determined using management’s best estimate of salary escalation, accumulated sick days at 

retirement and discount rates.  As a result of the plan change, the cost of retirement gratuities 

were actuarially determined using the employee’s salary, banked sick days and years of 

service as at August 31, 2012 and management’s best estimate of discount rates. The 

changes resulted in a plan curtailment and any unamortized actuarial gains and losses were 

recognized as at August 31, 2012. Any actuarial gains and losses arising from changes to the 

discount rate are amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the employee 

group.   

For self-insured retirement and other employee future benefits that vest or accumulated over 

the periods of service provided by employees, such as life insurance and health care benefits 

for retirees, the cost is actuarially determined using the projected benefits method prorated 

on service. Under this method, the benefit costs are recognized over the expected average 

service life of the employee group.   

For those self-insured benefit obligations that arise from specific events that occur from time 

to time, such as obligations for worker’s compensation and long-term disability, the cost is 

recognized immediately in the period the events occur. Any actuarial gains and losses that 

are related to these benefits are recognized immediately in the period they arise. 

(i) The costs of multi-employer defined pension plan benefits, such as the Ontario Municipal 

Employee Retirement System pensions, are the employer’s contributions due to the plan 

in the period; 

(ii) The costs of insured benefits are the employer’s portion of insurance premiums owed for 

coverage of employees during the period. 

(h) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at historical cost less accumulated amortization. 

Historical cost includes amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, construction, 

development or betterment of the asset, as well as interest related to financing during 

construction. When historical cost records were not available, other methods were used to 

estimate the costs and accumulated amortization.  

Leases which transfer substantially all the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of 

property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets. All other leases are accounted 

for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses as incurred. 
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended August 31, 2019 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(h) Tangible capital assets (continued): 

Tangible capital assets, except land, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their 

estimated useful lives as follows: 

 

Asset Estimated Useful Life in Years 

 
Land improvements  15 years 
Buildings  40 years 
Furniture and equipment  5 to 15 years 
Computer hardware  5 years 
Computer software  5 years 
Vehicles  5 to 10 years 
Leasehold improvements                                                                             Over the lease term 
 
 

Annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition and in the year of disposal.  Assets 

under construction and assets that relate to pre-acquisition and pre-construction costs are not 

amortized until the asset is available for productive use. 

Land permanently removed from service and held for sale is recorded at the lower of cost 

and estimated net realizable value.  Cost includes amounts for improvements to prepare the 

land for sale or servicing. Buildings permanently removed from service and held for sale 

cease to be amortized and are recorded at the lower of carrying value and estimated net 

realizable value.  Tangible capital assets which meet the criteria for financial assets are 

reclassified as “assets held for sale” on the consolidated statement of financial position. 

(i) Government transfers: 

Government transfers, which include legislative grants, are recognized in the consolidated 

financial statements in the period in which events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing 

the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met and reasonable estimates 

of the amount can be made.  If government transfers contain stipulations which give rise to a 

liability, they are deferred and recognized in revenue when the stipulations are met. 

Government transfers for capital are deferred as required by Regulation 395/11, recorded as 

deferred capital contributions (DCC) and recognized as revenue in the consolidated 

statement of operations at the same rate and over the same periods as the tangible capital 

asset is amortized. 

(j) Investment income: 

Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned.  When required by the 

funding government or related Act, investment income earned on externally restricted funds 

such as pupil accommodation, education development charges and special education forms 

part of the respective deferred revenue balances. 
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HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended August 31, 2019 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k) Budget figures: 

Budget figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from the 

budget approved by the Board of Trustees (Trustees).  The budget approved by the Trustees 

is developed in accordance with the provincially mandated funding model for school boards 

and is used to manage program spending within the guidelines of the funding model.   

(l) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with the basis of 

accounting described in Note 1(a) requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 

and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts 

of revenues and expenses during the year.  Actual results could differ from these current 

estimates. These estimates are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become 

necessary, they are reported in net expenses in the periods in which they become known.  

Significant estimates include assumptions used in estimating the collectability of accounts 

receivable to determine the allowance for doubtful accounts, in estimating provisions for 

accrued liabilities and in performing actuarial valuations of employee future benefits liabilities. 

(m) Property tax revenue: 

Under Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards, the entity that determines and sets the 

tax levy records the revenue in the financial statements, which in the case of the Board, is the 

Province of Ontario.  As a result, property tax revenue received from the municipalities is 

recorded as part of Provincial Legislative Grants. 

 

2. Accounts receivable: 

Accounts receivable consists of the following: 
 
 2019 2018 
 
Government of Canada $ 2,822,924 $ 3,054,172 
Government of Ontario 854,154 3,058,017 
Local governments 11,629,442 11,732,113 
Other 2,895,545 2,461,722 
 
 $ 18,202,065 $ 20,306,024 
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3. Long-term receivable - Government of Ontario: 

The Province of Ontario replaced variable capital funding with a one-time debt support grant in 

2009-10. The Board received a one-time grant that recognizes capital debt as of August 31, 2010 

that is supported by the existing capital programs. The Board will receive this grant in cash over 

the remaining term of the existing capital debt instruments. The Board may also receive yearly 

capital grants to support capital programs which would be reflected in this account receivable. 

The Board has an account receivable from the Province of Ontario of $162,202,440 as at 

August 31, 2019 (2018 - $176,617,129) with respect to this capital grant. 

The Ministry of Education introduced a cash management strategy effective September 1, 2018.  

As part of the strategy, the ministry delays part of the grant payment to school boards where the 

adjusted accumulated surplus and deferred revenue balances are in excess of certain criteria set 

out by the Ministry.  The balance of delayed grant payments included in the receivable balance 

from the Government of Ontario at August 31, 2019 is $9,126,269.  

 

4. Temporary borrowing: 

To address operating requirements and to bridge capital expenses, the Board has an operating 

line of credit and short-term loans.   

The operating line of credit bears interest at the bank’s prime lending rate less 0.85%, is 

unsecured, is due on demand, and has a maximum limit of $125,000,000.  As at August 31, 

2019, the amount drawn under the operating line of credit was $9,100,000 (2018 - $nil). 

The short-term loans bear interest ranging from 2.00% to 2.02%, are unsecured, and are due on 

dates ranging from September 6, 2019 to October 15, 2019.  As at August 31, 2019, the Board 

has short-term loans of $79,000,000 (2018 - $32,000,000). 
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5. Deferred revenue: 

Revenues received and that have been set aside for specific purposes by legislation, regulation 

or agreement are included in deferred revenue and reported on the consolidated statement of 

financial position. 

Deferred revenue set-aside for specific purposes by legislation, regulation or agreement as at 

August 31, 2019 is comprised of: 
 
  Externally  Transfer to 
  restricted Revenue deferred 
 Balance as revenue and recognized capital Balance as 
 at August 31, investment in the contributions at August 31, 
 2018 income period (note 8) 2019 
 
Special education $ 1,166,169 $ 47,362,876 $ (47,765,309) $ – $ 763,736 
Mental health leader 15,845 – (15,845) – – 
Proceeds of disposition 30,781,409 11,072,540 – (12,142,615) 29,711,334 
Retrofit for child care 1,032,200 – – – 1,032,200 
School renewal 877,548 4,581,313 (1,287,708) (4,171,153) – 
International students’ 
tuition  2,910,340 2,664,501 (2,940,591) – 2,634,250 
Other 1,728,674 34,433,237 (34,210,133) (1,292,313) 659,465 
 
 $ 38,512,185 $ 100,114,467 $ (86,219,586) $ (17,606,081) $ 34,800,985 
 

6. Retirement and other employee future benefits: 
 
    2019 2018 
   Other Total Total 
Retirement and other  employee employee employee 

employee future Retirement future future future 
benefit liabilities benefits benefits benefits benefits 

 
Accrued employee future 

benefit obligations at 
August 31 $ 2,538,152 $ 3,608,366 $ 6,146,518 $ 6,123,555 

 
Less: Unamortized actuarial 

loss at August 31 (204,798) – (204,798) (103,318) 
 

Employee future benefits  
liability at August 31 $ 2,333,354 $ 3,608,366 $ 5,941,720 $ 6,020,237 
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6. Retirement and other employee future benefits (continued): 
 
    2019 2018 
   Other Total Total 
Retirement and other  employee employee employee 

employee future Retirement future future future 
benefit expenses benefits benefits benefits benefits 

 
Current year benefit (recovery)  
 expense $ (303,143) $ 1,507,189 $ 1,204,046 $ 1,357,403 
Interest on accrued benefit 

obligation 85,451 88,144 173,595 151,975 
 

Employee future benefits  
expenses $ (217,692) $ 1,595,333 $ 1,377,641 $ 1,509,378 

 

 
Total payments made during 

the year $ (524,987) $ (931,171) $ (1,456,158) $ (1,432,313) 

 

Included in the current year benefit expense is $349,598 (2018 - $18,134) for amortization of net 

actuarial losses. The unamortized actuarial loss is amortized over the expected average 

remaining service life of 10.54 years (2018 - 10.05 years).  The actuarial gain for the year was 

$248,118 (2018 - $72,445).   

Retirement benefits: 

(i) Ontario Teacher’s Pension Plan: 

Teachers and related employee groups are eligible to be members of Ontario Teacher’s 

Pension Plan.  Employer contributions for these employees are provided directly by the 

Province of Ontario. The pension costs and obligations related to this plan are the direct 

responsibility of the Province. Accordingly, no costs or liabilities related to this plan are 

included in the Board’s consolidated financial statements. 

(ii) Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System: 

All non-teaching and support staff employees of the Board are eligible to be members of the 

Ontario Municipal Employees’ Retirement System (OMERS), a multi-employer pension plan.  

The plan provides defined pension benefits to employees based on their length of service 

and rates of pay.  The Board contributions equal the employee contributions to the plan.  

During the year ended August 31, 2019, the Board contributed $4,793,183 (2018 - 

$4,529,801) to the plan.  As this is a multi-employer pension plan, these contributions are the 

Board’s pension benefit expenses.  No pension liability for this type of plan is included in the 

Board’s consolidated financial statements. 
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6. Retirement and other employee future benefits (continued): 

Retirement benefits (continued): 

(ii) Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (continued): 

The OMERS pension plan had a deficit as at December 31, 2018 based on the actuarial 

valuation of the pension benefit obligation resulting in the plan being 96.0% funded (2017 - 

94.0% funded). Ongoing adequacy of the current contribution rates will need to be monitored 

and may lead to increased future funding requirements.  

(iii) Gratuity benefits: 

The Board provides gratuities to certain groups of employees hired prior to specified dates. 

The Board provides these benefits through an unfunded defined benefit plan. The benefit 

costs and liabilities related to this plan are included in the Board’s consolidated financial 

statements. The amount of the gratuities payable to eligible employees is based on their 

salary, accumulated sick days, and years of service up to August 31, 2012.  

(iv) Retirement life insurance and health care benefits: 

The Board provides life insurance, dental and health care benefits to certain employee 

groups after retirement until the members reach 65 years of age.  

The premiums are based on the Board experience and retirees’ premiums may be subsidized 

by the Board. The benefit costs and liabilities related to the plan are provided through an 

unfunded defined benefit plan and are included in the Board’s consolidated financial 

statements. Effective September 1, 2013, employees retiring on or after this date, do not 

qualify for board subsidized premiums or contributions.   

Other employee future benefits: 

(i) Workplace Safety and Insurance Board obligations: 

The Board is a Schedule 2 employer under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act and, as 

such, assumes responsibility for the payment of all claims to its injured workers under the 

Act.  The Board does not fund these obligations in advance of payments made under the Act.  

The benefit costs and liabilities related to this plan are included in the Board’s consolidated 

financial statements. School boards are required to provide salary top-up to a maximum of 

4 ½ years for employees receiving payments from the Workplace Safety and Insurance 

Board, where the collective agreement negotiated prior to 2012 included such a provision. 

59



HALTON CATHOLIC DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended August 31, 2019 
 

 

15 

6. Retirement and other employee future benefits (continued): 

Other employee future benefits (continued): 

(ii) Long-term disability salary compensation: 

The Board provides long-term disability benefits including partial salary compensation during 

the period an employee is unable to work or until their normal retirement date. The Board 

provides these benefits through an unfunded defined benefit plan. The benefit costs and 

liabilities related to this plan are included in the Board’s consolidated financial statements. 

(iii) Sick leave benefits: 

As a result of new changes made in 2013 to the short-term sick leave and disability plan, a 

maximum of 11 unused sick leave days from the current year may be carried forward into the 

following year only, to be used to top-up salary for illnesses paid through the short-term leave 

and disability plan in that year. The benefit costs expensed in the 2019 consolidated financial 

statements as a result of the change in the benefits was $219,608 (2018 - $221,245).  

The accrued benefit obligations for employee future benefit plans as at August 31, 2019 are 

based on the most recent actuarial valuations completed for accounting purposes as at 

August 31, 2016. These valuations take into account the plan changes outlined above and the 

economic assumptions used in these valuations are the Board’s best estimates of expected rates 

of: 
 
  2019 2018 
 
Inflation 1.5% 1.5% 
Wage and salary escalation 0.0% 0.0% 
Insurance and health care cost escalation 7.50% decreasing by 7.75% decreasing by 
 ¼% each year to 4.0% ¼% each year to 4.0% 
Dental cost escalation 3.50% decreasing by 3.75% decreasing by 
 ¼% each year to 3.0% ¼% each year to 3.0% 
Discount on accrued benefit obligations 2.00% 2.90% 
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7. Net long-term liabilities: 
 
  2019 2018 
 
OSBFC (2000) – F10, repayable in semi-annual 

installments of $959,133 plus interest at 7.20% 
per annum, maturing June 9, 2025 $ 9,214,095 $ 10,404,308 

OSBFC (2001) – A3, repayable in semi-annual 
installments of $2,515,121 plus interest at 6.55% 
per annum, maturing October 19, 2026 29,436,734 32,392,869 

OFA (2003) – A2, repayable in semi-annual  
installments of $189,051 plus interest at 5.80% 
per annum, maturing November 7, 2028 2,732,058 2,942,503 

OFA (2006) – repayable in semi-annual installments 
of $23,381 plus interest at 4.56% per annum,  
maturing November 15, 2031 441,830 467,562 

OFA (2007) – A1, repayable in semi-annual  
installments of $1,117,034 plus interest at 5.38% 
per annum, maturing June 25, 2032 21,706,366 22,835,762 

OFA (2008) – F02, repayable in semi-annual 
installments of $17,597 plus interest at 4.90% 
per annum, maturing March 3, 2033 349,917 367,322 

OFA (2008) – F03, repayable in semi-annual 
installments of $26,107 plus interest at 4.83% 
per annum, maturing March 3, 2033 521,428 547,510 

OFA (2009) – repayable in semi-annual installments 
of $908,987 plus interest at 5.06% per annum, 
maturing March 13, 2034 18,796,423 19,631,102 

OFA (2009) – A3, repayable in semi-annual 
installments of $61,119 plus interest at 5.06% 
per annum, maturing March 13, 2034 1,263,841 1,319,964 

OFA (2010) – F02, repayable in semi-annual 
installments of $738,166 plus interest at 5.23% 
per annum, maturing April 13, 2035 15,809,614 16,434,173 

OSBFC (2010) – repayable in semi- annual 
installments of $1,294,708, plus interest at 3.94% 
per annum, maturing September 19, 2025 14,417,530 16,380,387 

OFA (2011) – repayable in semi-annual installments 
of $719,169 plus interest at 2.43% per annum,  
maturing November 15, 2021 3,468,658 4,798,643 

OFA (2012) – F02, repayable in semi-annual  
installments of $357,767 plus interest at 3.56% 
per annum, maturing March 9, 2037 9,375,917 9,747,338 

OFA (2014) – F02, repayable in semi-annual 
installments of $1,068,719 plus interest at 4.00% 
per annum, maturing on March 11, 2039 29,052,481 29,998,454 

OFA (2015) – repayable in semi-annual installments 
of $53,072 plus interest at 2.99% per annum,  
maturing on March 9, 2040 1,635,554 1,691,489 

 
  $ 158,222,446 $ 169,959,386 
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7. Net long-term liabilities (continued): 

Principal payments relating to net debt of $158,222,446 are due as follows: 

 

  Principal Interest Total 
 
2019/20 $ 12,340,841 $ 7,865,424 $ 20,206,265 
2020/21 12,978,568  7,227,697  20,206,265 
2021/22 12,932,950 6,554,146 19,487,096 
2022/23 12,899,025 5,868,902 18,767,927 
2023/24 13,615,031 5,152,896 18,767,927 
Thereafter 93,456,031 23,757,547 117,213,578 
 

  $ 158,222,446 $ 56,426,612 $ 214,649,058 

 

The expenditure for debt charges includes principal and interest payments as follows: 
 
 2019 2018 
 
Principal payments on long-term liabilities $ 11,736,940 $ 11,164,925 
Interest payments on long-term liabilities 8,469,325 9,041,340 
 
 $ 20,206,265 $ 20,206,265 

 

8. Deferred capital contributions:  

Deferred capital contributions include grants and contributions received that are used for the 

acquisition of tangible capital assets in accordance with Ontario Regulation 395/11 that have 

been expended by year end.  The contributions are amortized into revenue over the life of the 

asset acquired.   
 
 2019 2018 
 
Opening balance, September 1 $ 417,472,749 $ 406,152,182 
 
Additions to deferred capital contributions 15,580,719 20,447,226 
 
Transfer from deferred revenue (note 5) 17,606,081 8,596,162 
 
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (15,420,440) (17,722,821) 
 

Ending balance, August 31 $ 435,239,109 $ 417,472,749 
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9. Tangible capital assets: 

Year ended August 31, 2019 
 
  Cost Accumulated Amortization 
    Transfers,    Transfers,  Net book Net book 
  Balance at Additions disposals Balance at Balance at  disposals Balance at value value 
  August 31, and and August 31, August 31,  and August 31, August 31, August 31, 
  2018 transfers write-offs 2019 2018 Amortization write-offs 2019 2019 2018 
 
Land $ 136,233,916 $ 51,662,714 $ 2,832,915 $ 190,729,545 $ – $ – $ – $ – $ 190,729,545 $ 136,233,916 
Land improvements 21,560,306 1,734,649 – 23,294,955 8,194,903 1,324,462 – 9,519,365 13,775,590 13,365,403 
Buildings 570,064,691 9,058,450 16,257,376 595,380,517 162,706,446 13,887,942 – 176,594,388 418,786,129 407,358,245 
Construction in  

progress 15,542,922 22,008,900 (16,257,376) 21,294,446 – – – – 21,294,446 15,542,922 
Furniture and  

equipment 8,477,560 385,740 (1,148,721) 7,714,579 4,914,840 813,563 (1,148,721) 4,579,682 3,134,897 3,562,720 
Computer hardware 3,099,900 604,732 (911,888) 2,792,744 1,809,992 589,265 (911,888) 1,487,369 1,305,375 1,289,908 
Vehicles 215,736 39,018 (36,177) 218,577 94,376 43,431 (36,177) 101,630 116,947 121,360 
Pre-acquisition  

costs (PAC) 2,998,105 18,234 (2,832,915) 183,424 – – – – 183,424 2,998,105 
Leasehold  

improvements 473,966 – – 473,966 399,740 49,485 – 449,225 24,741 74,226 
 

  $ 758,667,102 $ 85,512,437 $ (2,096,786)  $ 842,082,753 $ 178,120,297 $ 16,708,148 $ (2,096,786) $ 192,731,659 $ 649,351,094 $ 580,546,805 
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9. Tangible capital assets (continued): 

(a) Assets under construction: 

Assets under construction having a value of $21,294,446 (2018 - $15,542,922) have not 

been amortized.  Amortization of these assets will commence when the asset is put into 

service. 

(b) Write-down of tangible capital assets: 

The write-down of tangible capital assets during the year was $nil (2018 - $2,025,215). 

 

10. Accumulated surplus: 

Accumulated surplus consists of the following: 
 
 2019 2018 
 
Available for compliance - unappropriated 

Total operating surplus $ 1,097,153 $ 829,712 
 
Available for compliance – internally appropriated 

Operating reserve 7,700,000 4,405,718 
School budgets 565,935 463,898 
Facility capital reserve 13,337,193 9,384,186 
Capital capacity planning 70,533 70,533 
Committed capital interest earned 1,367,227 1,443,609 
Committed capital projects 8,457,074 7,683,036 
Other programs 1,250,000 840,513 
 33,845,115  25,121,205  

Unavailable for compliance 
Employee future benefit (3,761,594) (4,219,813) 
Interest accrual (2,319,239) (2,495,689) 
School generated funds 3,537,966 3,499,739 
Revenues recognized for land 113,784,487 107,088,749 
 111,241,620 103,872,986 

 
Balance, end of year $ 145,086,735 $ 128,994,191 
 

11. Provincial legislative grants: 

Under Public Sector Accounting Standards the entity that determines and sets the tax levy 

records the revenue in their consolidated financial statements. As a result, property tax revenue 

received from the municipalities is recorded as part of Provincial legislative grants in the amount 

of $92,616,233 (2018 - $87,054,739). 
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12. Expenses: 

The following is a summary of the current expenses reported on the Consolidated Statement of 

Operations by object: 
 
  2019 

 Budget 2019 2018 
 Note 1(k) Actual Actual 

 
Salary and wages $ 281,202,916 $ 281,748,337 $ 270,432,169 
Employee benefits 46,359,200 46,305,896 44,778,216 
Staff development 1,116,702 1,112,557 1,598,343 
Supplies and services 41,008,599 37,891,859 41,711,049 
Interest 8,292,891 8,292,890 8,874,266 
Rental expense 5,285,991 6,522,165 4,609,718 
Fees and contract services 17,284,548 18,901,928 15,654,766 
Other 1,073,308 3,809,221 2,478,839 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 17,337,861 16,708,148 19,078,584 
 
  $ 418,962,016 $ 421,293,001 $ 409,215,950 
 

13. Partnership in Halton Student Transportation Services: 

On September 1, 2007, the Board entered into an agreement with Halton District School Board, 

Le Conseil scolaire de district Catholique due Centre-Sud and Le Conseil scolaire de district due 

Centre-Sud-Ouest to provide common administration of student transportation services.  On 

February 10, 2009, Service de Transport des Eleves de Halton/Halton Student Transportation 

Services (HSTS) was incorporated under the Corporations Act of Ontario. A revised agreement 

dated April 17, 2009 was created in an effort to increase delivery efficiency and cost effectiveness 

of student transportation for each of the School Boards.  Each Board participates in the shared 

costs associated with this service for the transportation of their respective students through 

HSTS.   

Effective September 1, 2013, two school boards have left the partnership and the partnership is 

supplying services exclusively to Halton District School Board and the Board.  

HSTS is proportionately consolidated in the Board’s consolidated financial statements whereby 

the Board’s pro-rata share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the consortium are 

included in the Board’s consolidated financial statements.  Inter-organizational transactions and 

balances have been eliminated. 
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13. Partnership in Halton Student Transportation Services (continued): 

The following provides condensed financial information: 
 
   2019  2018 
  Total Board portion Total Board portion 
 
Financial Position: 

Financial assets $ 110,642 $ 41,020 $ 22,412 $ 7,936   
Financial liabilities (139,424) (51,690) (47,539) (16,834) 
Non-financial assets 29,542 10,952 25,887 9,167 

 
Accumulated surplus $ 760 $ 282 $ 760 $ 269 
 

 
Operations: 

Revenues $ 24,282,296 $ 9,002,484 $ 22,238,889 $ 7,875,059 
Expenses (24,282,296) (9,002,484) (22,238,889) (7,875,059) 

 
Accumulated surplus $ – $ – $ – $ – 
 

14. Ontario School Board Insurance Exchange (OSBIE): 

The school board is a member of the Ontario School Board Insurance Exchange (OSBIE), a 

reciprocal insurance company licensed under the Insurance Act.  OSBIE insures general public 

liability, property damage and certain other risks. Liability insurance is available to a maximum of 

$27,000,000 per occurrence. 

The ultimate premiums over a one year period are based on the reciprocal’s and the Board’s 

actual claims experience.  Periodically, the Board may receive a refund or be asked to pay an 

additional premium based on its pro rata share of claims experience.  The current one year term 

expires January 1, 2020. 

 

15. Contractual obligations and contingent liabilities: 

(i) The Board has obligations under operating leases that require annual lease payments in the 

following amounts: 

 
 
2019/20 $ 3,768,547 
2020/21  2,037,046 
2021/22  1,720,285 
2022/23  1,304,750 
2023/24 and thereafter  621,602 
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15. Contractual obligations and contingent liabilities (continued): 

(ii) The Board was contingently liable under letters of credit issued to municipalities with respect 

to construction projects in the amount of $2,815,325 (2018 - $2,023,541). 

(iii) The nature of the Board activities is such that there is usually litigation pending or in the 

prospect at any time.  With respect to claims at August 31, 2019, management believes that 

the Board has valid defenses and appropriate insurance coverage in place.  In the event 

claims are successful, management believes that such claims are not expected to have a 

material effect on the Board’s financial position. 

(iv) The Board, in the normal course of business, enters into commodities contracts, in order to 

fix the price of commodities to be acquired in the future. The Board has entered into these 

contracts in conjunction with two consortiums which includes other school boards. 

 

16. Budget data: 

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based upon the 2019 

original budget approved by the Board on June 19, 2018.  

 

17. Repayment of “55 School Board Trust” funding: 

On June 1, 2003, the Board received $635,000 from The 55 School Board Trust for its capital 

related debt eligible for provincial funding support pursuant to a 30-year agreement it entered into 

with the trust. The 55 School Board Trust was created to refinance the outstanding not 

permanently financed (NPF) debt of participating boards who are beneficiaries of the trust.  Under 

the terms of the agreement, The 55 School Board Trust repaid the Board’s debt in consideration 

for the assignment by the Board to the trust of future provincial grants payable to the Board in 

respect of the NPF debt. 

As a result of the above agreement, the liability in respect of the NPF debt is not reflected in the 

Board’s financial position. 
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Regular Board Meeting                           Action Report 

Milton Secondary School Boundary Review Item 8.8 

November 19, 2019 

Alignment to Strategic Plan 
This report is linked to our strategic priority of Achieving: Meeting the needs of all learners. 

Purpose             
To initiate a school boundary review process to establish school boundaries for the future Milton #3 
“Mazmik” Catholic Secondary School. This process will seek to also establish interim and ultimate 
student accommodation plans for the secondary panel leading up to the opening of the new school. 

Background Information          
1. Staff Report Item 9.1 “Milton Secondary School Boundary Review” from the November 5, 2019, Regular 

Meeting of the Board 

2. Action Report Item 8.8 “2019 Capital Priorities List Submission” from the June 18, 2019, Regular 
Meeting of the Board 

3. Information Report Item 10.9 “Long-Term Capital Plan Update – Final Report” from the June 18, 2019, 
Regular Meeting of the Board 

4. Information Report Item 10.4 “2018-19 Annual Facility Accommodation Report” from the April 2, 2019, 
Regular Meeting of the Board. 

5. Information Report 10.9 “Planning Services Work Plan for 2018-2019” from the October 2, 2018, 
Regular Board Meeting. 

Comments 

On September 30, 2019, the Board submitted its 2019-20 Capital Priorities Submission to the Ministry 
of Education. The Milton #3 Catholic Secondary School project was submitted as Priority #1 of the six 
(6) projects submitted. It is anticipated the funding announcements will be made in early 2020, at which 
point the Board will receive confirmation if it was successful. 

The 2019 Long-Term Capital Plan Update indicates that the Milton #3 CSS project is required by the 
2021-22 school year. At this time, Jean Vanier CSS, which is currently holding Milton #3 CSS students, 
will surpass its maximum portable classroom capacity of 60 units by the 2021-22 school year. The 
expected portable classroom requirement at Jean Vanier CSS for the 2021-22 school year is 66 
portable classrooms. See Figure 1. 
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Given the increasing enrolment pressures, new secondary accommodations are urgently required to 
house the Town of Milton Secondary School population.  

Figure 1: Jean Vanier Catholic Secondary School Projections 

 

It is important to note that a secondary school takes a minimum of three (3) years to construct, from 
start to finish. The first year is dedicated to obtaining the required planning and building approvals, and 
the latter two (2) years for construction. Board staff is already undertaking works related to the required 
planning approvals to prepare the site for construction.  

Anticipating an announcement from the Ministry in early 2020, and the required time to receive 
Approval to Proceed (ATP), and tendering the project, it is no longer feasible to achieve a September 
2021-22 opening date. Opening the Milton #3 CSS by the 2022-23 school year is now considered the 
most likely opening date. 

Considering that Jean Vanier CSS will have surpassed its total on-site capacity by 2021-22, Milton #3 
CSS students may need to be temporarily relocated to alternate school accommodations with available 
space within the Board’s jurisdiction. 

As a response to the above concerns, Facility Management Services and Planning Services is 
recommending that the Board initiate a Secondary School Boundary Review for the Town of Milton 
secondary panel. The scope of the school boundary review would be as follows: 

 Define the school attendance boundary for the future Milton #3 CSS, as well as its elementary family 
of schools; 

 Identify an interim holding school to temporarily accommodate Milton #3 CSS students, in wait for 
the school opening;  
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 Work with senior staff to develop an interim and ultimate accommodation plan for Milton Secondary 
Students; and, 

 Define future holding areas for the next Milton Catholic Secondary School, as defined in the Board’s 
2019 Long-Term Capital Plan. 

The proposed school boundary review process is governed by Operating Policy I-29: School Boundary 
Review Process Administrative Procedure, and follows the protocols of the Standard School Boundary 
Review Process, based on Section 4.3 of Administrative Procedure VI-88: School Boundary Review 
Process Administrative Procedure. The standard process applies given the complexity of the review. 

Advisory School Boundary Review Committee Composition 

When a process is initiated, an Advisory School Boundary Review Committee (SBRC) is created. The 
role of the committee is advisory and is responsible for reviewing potential boundary and 
accommodation options with an objective lens meant to benefit the Catholic school community as a 
whole. 

Given the scale of this boundary review, parent representation on the SBRC should include Catholic 
School Council representatives from all elementary and secondary schools in Milton. For the 
elementary panel, it would be ideal to have representation from parents of intermediate/senior 
students, as they will be most affected by the changes. The Director of Education may also designate 
the affected Family of School Superintendent and other Board Senior Staff to participate in the SBRC.  

In the development/exploration of interim accommodation options that involve other school 
communities outside the Town of Milton, a representative of the affected school community may also 
be invited to sit on the SBRC in a temporary or permanent capacity. 

School Boundary Review Milestones: 

The following table provides the tentative School Boundary Review milestones: 

Table 1: Tentative School Boundary Review Milestones 

TENTATIVE DATE FORUM ACTIONS 

September 30, 2019 Ministry Submission Milton #3 CSS Capital Priorities Submission 
November 5, 2019 Board Meeting Staff Report – SBRC Initiation Report 
November 19, 2019 Board Meeting Action Report – SBRC Initiation Report 
Mid-November 2019 Information Meeting Milton Parent Council Information Night 
Late-November Information Meeting Public Information Night 
December 2019 Notification Communication for SBRC Parent Member Selection  
January 2020 SBRC Meeting SBRC Information Start-Up & Working Meeting #1 
February 2020 SBRC Meeting SBRC Working Meeting #2 
March 2020 Information Meeting Public Meeting #1 
March 2020 SBRC Meeting SBRC Working Meeting #3 
April 2020 SBRC Meeting SBRC Working Meeting #4 
May 2020 Information Meeting Public Meeting #2 
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TENTATIVE DATE FORUM ACTIONS 
May/June 2020 SBRC Meeting SBRC Final Working Meeting 
June/Sept Board Meeting Interim Staff Report – SBRC Recommendations 
June/Sept Board Meeting Public Delegations 
June/Sept Board Meeting Final Action Report – SBRC Recommendations 
June/Sept Notification Communication to the Milton communities. 

The above schedule is tentative, and may be subject to change as the SBRC moves through the 
process. It should also be noted that if additional or fewer working meetings and/or public meetings 
are required, further modifications may be made to the above schedule. 

The goal is to complete the boundary review process prior to the 2021-22 registration period, so as 
to give advance notice to the parent and school communities.  

Conclusion 

Staff recommends that a standard School Boundary Review Process be initiated to establish interim 
accommodation options to hold future Milton #3 CSS students, as well as to define the ultimate school 
boundaries once opened. September 1, 2021, has been identified as the earliest implementation date 
for any boundary changes, if approved.  

Recommendation 
The following resolution is respectfully submitted for Trustee consideration and approval to proceed 
with initiating a school boundary review process to identify interim and ultimate accommodation plans 
for the Milton #3 Catholic Secondary School. 

 
RESOLUTION#      Moved By: 
       Seconded By:  

RESOLVED, that the Halton Catholic District School Board direct staff to initiate a school boundary 
review process to identify interim and ultimate accommodation plans for the Milton #3 Catholic 
Secondary School. 

 

Report Prepared by:  F. Thibeault 
    Senior Manager, Planning Services 
 
Report Submitted by:  R. Merrick 
    Superintendent, Facility Management Services 
 
Report Approved by:  P. Daly 

Director of Education and Secretary of the Board 
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 Principal  Issue Date  Maturity Date 
 Due on 

Maturity 
 Rate  Term 

 Int Rev to 

Aug 31, 2019 

 Int Rev to 

Aug 31, 2020 

4,210,827$        March 8, 2018 September 4, 2018 4,253,396$     2.05% 180    42,569$        

12,667,281$     May 29, 2018 November 26, 2018 12,799,822$   2.11% 181    132,541$      

15,000,000$     May 29, 2018 May 29, 2019 15,345,000$   2.30% 365    345,000$      

10,200,000$     December 7, 2018 September 4, 2019 10,393,115$   2.55% 271    193,115$      

TOTAL INTEREST REVENUE 520,110$      193,115$      
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Français 
ONTARIO REGULATION 41/10 

made under the 

EDUCATION ACT 

Made: February 24, 2010 
Filed: February 26, 2010 

Published on e-Laws: March 2, 2010 
Printed in The Ontario Gazette: March 13, 2010 

BOARD BORROWING, INVESTING AND OTHER FINANCIAL MATTERS 

PART I 
NON-PERMANENTLY FINANCED DEBT OF DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARDS 

Definitions 

1. In this Part,
“assignee” means the trustee of a trust or another person to whom a portion of a legislative grant is assigned by a district 

school board under an agreement prescribed by this Part; (“cessionnaire”) 
“non-permanently financed debt” means, in respect of a district school board, the amount as of August 31, 2001 that is listed 

in Column (e) under the heading “Not Permanently Financed” opposite the name of the board in Table 2, “Capital Related 
Debt Eligible for Funding Support, by District School Board”, in the document entitled School Board Capital Related Debt 
(June 17, 2002), published by the Ministry; (“dette sans financement permanent”) 

“participating board” means a district school board that enters into an agreement prescribed by this Part with an assignee; 
(“conseil participant”) 

“refinanced debt” means the debt incurred by the assignee in respect of the financing arranged to refinance the non-
permanently financed debt of district school boards; (“dette refinancée”) 

“unreimbursed costs” means the costs, expenses or liabilities for which an assignee that is a trustee of a trust is held to be 
personally liable in connection with administering the trust or arranging for the financing to refinance the non-permanently 
financed debt. (“frais non remboursés”) 

Prescribed instrument 

2. (1)  An agreement that contains the following is prescribed for the purposes of clause 247 (3) (f) of the Act as an
instrument that may be executed by a district school board: 

1. The agreement provides for the irrevocable assignment by the board to the assignee named in the agreement of the
portion of each legislative grant that is paid under the Act in respect of,

i. the board’s non-permanently financed debt, other than amounts referred to in clause 37 (1) (b) of Ontario
Regulation 154/01 (Student Focused Funding — Legislative Grants for the 2001-2002 School Board Fiscal Year)
made under the Act or clause 37 (1) (b) of Ontario Regulation 156/02 (Student Focused Funding — Legislative
Grants for the 2002-2003 School Board Fiscal Year) made under the Act as those regulations read immediately
before they were revoked, or

ii. the portion of the refinanced debt attributable to the board.
2. The agreement requires the board to give a direction to the Minister to pay the assigned portion of each legislative

grant directly to an account specified in the agreement.
3. The agreement requires the assignee to,

i. assume the board’s liability to pay its non-permanently financed debt,
ii. arrange financing to refinance the non-permanently financed debt of the board and other participating boards by,

A. creating and issuing, pursuant to one or more trust indentures, bonds, debentures or other evidences of the
refinanced debt,

B. entering into one or more underwriting agreements in respect of the bonds, debentures or other evidences of
the refinanced debt,

C. obtaining ratings of the bonds, debentures or other evidences of the refinanced debt from one or more
nationally recognized rating agencies, and

Appendix A
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 D. causing an offering document to be prepared in respect of the bonds, debentures or other evidence of the 
refinanced debt and making it available to underwriters and other potential purchasers of the bonds, 
debentures or other evidences of the refinanced debt, 

 iii. out of the proceeds of the refinanced debt, pay the board’s non-permanently financed debt, and 
 iv. obtain from the holder of the non-permanently financed debt a receipt for the payment of the board’s non-

permanently financed debt. 
 4. If the assignee is the trustee of a trust, the agreement requires the board to do the following: 
 i. indemnify the trustee in its personal capacity for all unreimbursed costs, if any, to the extent that the assets of the 

trust out of which the trustee is entitled at law or in equity to be indemnified for the unreimbursed costs are 
insufficient to satisfy the unreimbursed costs, and 

 ii. make just and equitable contribution to satisfy the claims giving rise to the unreimbursed costs in an amount that 
is in the same proportion to the aggregate of the unreimbursed costs that the board’s non-permanently financed 
debt bears to the sum of the non-permanently financed debt of all the participating boards and the amount of fees 
paid to the trustee, if the indemnity referred to in subparagraph i is for any reason held by a court to be 
unenforceable. 

 5. The agreement provides that if the board is required, pursuant to a provision in an agreement described in paragraph 4, 
to indemnify the trustee or make just and equitable contribution to satisfy the claims giving rise to the unreimbursed 
costs, the liability of the board under the rights of indemnity or contribution, 

 i. shall be several and not joint, and 
 ii. shall not exceed the amount by which the board’s non-permanently financed debt exceeds the cumulative amount 

of the legislative grants in respect of the principal amount of the refinanced debt paid to the account referred to in 
paragraph 2 established by the board. 

 (2)  An agreement is prescribed for the purposes of clause 247 (3) (f) of the Act if it satisfies the requirements of 
subsection (1) and it contains provisions that are not inconsistent with the requirements of subsection (1). 
Board to provide copy to the Minister 

 3.  If a district school board enters into an agreement prescribed by this Part, it shall give a written direction described in 
paragraph 2 of subsection 2 (1) and a copy of the agreement to the Minister. 

PART II 
RISK MANAGEMENT BY BOARDS IN RESPECT OF ENERGY PRICES 

Commodity price hedging agreements 

 4.  (1)  A board may enter into commodity price hedging agreements under this Part in order to hedge the risks associated 
with the fluctuations in the prices of the natural gas, electricity and other energy commodities that are required by the board 
to operate its schools, other properties and vehicles. 
 (2)  The agreement must fix, directly or indirectly, or enable the board to fix the price or range of prices to be paid by the 
board for the future delivery of some or all of a commodity described in subsection (1) or the future cost to the board of an 
equivalent quantity of the commodity. 
 (3)  A board shall not sell or otherwise dispose of the commodity price hedging agreement or any interest of the board in 
the agreement. 
Report on commodity price hedging agreements 

 5.  (1)  If a board has any subsisting commodity price hedging agreements in a fiscal year, the treasurer of the board shall 
prepare and present to the board as part of the annual financial report to the board for the fiscal year a detailed report on all of 
those agreements. 
 (2)  The report must contain the following information and documents: 
 1. A statement about the status of the agreements during the period of the report, including a comparison of the expected 

and actual results of using the agreements. 
 2. Such other information as the board may require. 
 3. Such other information as the treasurer considers appropriate to include in the report.   

PART III 
BORROWING FOR PERMANENT IMPROVEMENTS 

Borrowing for permanent improvements 
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 6.  A board that, under subsection 247 (1) or (2) of the Act, borrows money or incurs debt for permanent improvements 
shall do so only in accordance with this Part. 
Permitted loans 

 7.  (1)  A board may by by-law borrow money for permanent improvements by way of a loan with an initial maturity of 
more than one year from the Ontario Financing Authority. 
 (2)  To obtain a loan described in subsection (1), a board shall make a loan application to the Ontario Financing Authority 
in accordance with any applicable policies, procedures or terms set by the Ontario Financing Authority. 
 (3)  If the Ontario Financing Authority approves a board’s loan application and the board can demonstrate to the 
satisfaction of the Minister that another entity would provide a loan with the same terms and conditions as the Ontario 
Financing Authority but at a lower cost, the board may by by-law borrow money for permanent improvements by way of a 
loan with an initial maturity of more than one year from that other entity if it is one of the following:   
 1. A bank listed in Schedule I or II of the Bank Act (Canada). 
 2. A loan corporation or trust corporation registered under the Loan and Trust Corporations Act. 
 3. A credit union or league to which the Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires Act, 1994 applies. 
 4. A municipality in Canada. 
 (4)  A board that obtains a loan described in this section shall ensure that the proceeds of it are used for permanent 
improvements. 
 (5)  Despite the lifetime of a permanent improvement for which a loan described in this section is made, the loan shall be 
payable over a term not exceeding 25 years. 

PART IV 
ELIGIBLE INVESTMENTS 

Eligible investments 

 8.  A board does not have the power under section 241 of the Act to invest in a security other than a security prescribed 
under this Part. 
Eligible investments 

 9.  The following are prescribed, for the purposes of clause 241 (1) (a) of the Act, as securities that a board may invest in: 
 1. Bonds, debentures, promissory notes or other evidence of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by, 
 i. Canada or a province or territory of Canada, 
 ii. an agency of Canada or of a province or territory of Canada, 
 iii. a municipality in Canada, or 
 iv. the Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia. 
 2. Bonds, debentures, promissory notes or other evidence of indebtedness of a corporation if, 
 i. the bond, debenture or other evidence of indebtedness is secured by the assignment to a trustee, as defined in the 

Trustee Act, of payments that Canada or a province or territory of Canada has agreed to make or is required to 
make under a federal, provincial or territorial statute, and 

 ii. the payments referred to in subparagraph i are sufficient to meet the amounts payable under the bond, debenture 
or other evidence of indebtedness, including the amounts payable at maturity. 

 3. Deposit receipts, deposit notes, certificates of deposit or investment, acceptances or similar instruments, the terms of 
which provide that the principal and interest shall be fully repaid no later than two years after the day the investment 
was made, that are issued, guaranteed or endorsed by, 

 i. a bank listed in Schedule I or II of the Bank Act (Canada), 
 ii. a loan corporation or trust corporation registered under the Loan and Trust Corporations Act, or 
 iii. a credit union or league to which the Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires Act, 1994 applies. 
 4. Deposit receipts, deposit notes, certificates of deposit or investment, acceptances or similar instruments, the terms of 

which provide that the principal and interest shall be fully repaid more than two years after the day the investment was 
made, that are issued, guaranteed or endorsed by, 

 i. a bank listed in Schedule I or II of the Bank Act (Canada), 
 ii. a loan corporation or trust corporation registered under the Loan and Trust Corporations Act, or 
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 iii. a credit union or league to which the Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires Act, 1994 applies. 
 5. Bonds, debentures or evidences or long-term indebtedness issued by an institution listed in paragraph 4.   
Rating of certain eligible investments 

 10.  (1)  A board shall not invest in a security under paragraph 4 or 5 of section 9 unless the bond, debenture, promissory 
note or evidence of indebtedness is rated, 
 (a) by DBRS Limited as “AA(low)” or higher; 
 (b) by Fitch Ratings as “AA–” or higher; 
 (c) by Moody’s Investors Services Inc. as “Aa3” or higher; or 
 (d) by Standard and Poor’s as “AA–” or higher. 
 (2)  If an investment made under paragraph 4 or 5 of section 9 falls below the standard required under subsection (1), the 
board shall sell the investment within 90 days after the day the investment falls below the standard. 
Restriction: securities expressed or payable in foreign currency 

 11.  (1)  A board shall not invest in a security that is expressed or payable in any currency other than Canadian dollars. 
 (2)  Subsection (1) does not prevent a board from continuing an investment, made before this Regulation comes into force, 
that is expressed and payable in the currency of the United States of America or the United Kingdom. 
Restriction: investment of money from certain funds 

 12.  A board shall not invest money from its general fund, its capital fund or a reserve fund in a security unless, 
 (a) the money is made repayable on or before the day on which the board requires the money; or 
 (b) any interest or other earnings from the investment are credited to the fund from which the money was invested. 
Statement of investment policies and goals 

 13.  (1)  Before a board invests in a security prescribed under this Part, the board shall, if it has not already done so, adopt a 
statement of the board’s investment policies and goals. 
 (2)  In preparing the statement of the board’s investment policies and goals under subsection (1), the board shall consider, 
 (a) the board’s risk tolerance and the preservation of its capital; 
 (b) the board’s need for a diversified portfolio of investments; and 
 (c) obtaining legal advice and financial advice with respect to the proposed investments. 
Investment report 

 14.  (1)  If a board has an investment in a security prescribed under this Part, the board shall require the treasurer of the 
board to prepare an investment report as part of the treasurer’s annual financial report to the board. 
 (2)  The investment report referred to in subsection (1) shall contain, 
 (a) a statement about the performance of the portfolio of investments of the board during the period covered by the report; 
 (b) a description of the estimated proportion of the total investments of the board that are invested in its own long-term 

and short-term securities to the total investment of the board and a description of the change, if any, in that estimated 
proportion since the previous year’s report; 

 (c) a list of any investments of the board that are not eligible investments under this Part or that fall below the prescribed 
ratings, and a description of the plans for disposing of those investments; 

 (d) a statement by the treasurer as to whether or not, in his or her opinion, all investment were made in accordance with 
the investment policies and goals adopted by the board; 

 (e) a record of the date of each transaction in or disposal of its own securities, including a statement of the purchase and 
sale price of each security; and 

 (f) such other information that the board may require or that, in the opinion of the treasurer, should be included. 
Ineligible investments 

 15.  (1)  Despite this Regulation, if on the day this Regulation comes into force, a board holds an investment that is not 
prescribed under this Regulation, the board shall sell the investment within 90 days after the day this Regulation comes into 
force. 
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 (2)  Despite subsection (1), if the sale of the investment would result in the board realizing an amount below the net book 
value of the investment, the board may retain the investment, but only until it has an opportunity to realize an amount equal 
to the net book value of the investment, at which time it shall sell the investment. 
Commencement 

 16.  This Regulation comes into force on the day it is filed. 
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Box 2064, Suite 1804 

20 Eglinton Avenue West 

Toronto, Ontario M4R 1K8 

 T. 416.932.9460  F. 416.932.9459 

ocsta@ocsta.on.ca www.ocsta.on.ca 

 

 Beverley Eckensweiler, President 

 Michelle Griepsma, Vice President 

 Nick Milanetti, Executive Director 

 

P R O M O T I N G   A N D   P R O T E C T I N G   C A T H O L I C   E D U C A T I O N 

 

May 6, 2019 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:  Chairpersons and Directors of Education 

- All Catholic District School Boards 

 

FROM: Nick Milanetti, Executive Director 

 

SUBJECT: 2020 AGM Resolutions 

 

 
 

PLEASE REVIEW THIS INFORMATION AT A MEETING OF YOUR BOARD 
 

 

The study and processing of resolutions is one of the fundamental responsibilities of OCSTA. 

The resolution process provides member boards with the opportunity to shape the work of the 

Association by bringing important issues which have provincial implications to the attention of 

all trustees in the province. Delegates will consider and vote on all resolutions received from 

OCSTA members. 

 

During the year, important issues of a provincial nature that arise at the board level may be used 

to develop resolutions for OCSTA. Resolutions may be submitted at any time up until the 

deadline of January 31, 2020. 

 

 

Attachments 

- Guidelines 

- Template 

- Explanation of Committee Recommendations & Resolution Procedures 

- OCSTA Mission, Vision, Strategic Priorities 

- Chart of 2019 Resolutions with AGM Decisions 

- Related By-Law Section 5.9 (Resolutions) 
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P R O M O T I N G   A N D   P R O T E C T I N G   C A T H O L I C   E D U C A T I O N 

 

 

 

 

 

Guidelines for Preparing Resolutions 
 

To improve the effectiveness of the resolution process, we ask boards to review the following guidelines. 

 

Resolutions are your opportunity to shape the work of the Association by addressing problems, solutions 

or concerns, which affect Catholic education in Ontario. A resolution approved by the membership at 

the Annual General Meeting calls for priority action by OCSTA and the commitment of OCSTA 

resources to address the particular issue outlined in the resolution. 

 

A. All Resolutions will be reviewed by the Resolutions Committee and a Committee 

Recommendation will be added to each Resolution. Committee Recommendations will be 

guided by the following criteria. 

 

The resolution: 

a. Is in keeping with the Mission, Vision and Strategic Priorities of the Association. 

b. Is of a provincial nature and addresses an area of concern for the province’s Catholic school 

boards is a matter that requires attention or action. 

c. Is written in language appropriate for province-wide consideration (language contained in 

resolutions is often incorporated into subsequent communications to the government or other 

relevant parties). 

d. Is accompanied by substantiated rationale. 

e. Does not deal with education funding issues. 

- OCSTA addresses education funding issues in the Annual Finance Brief to the Minister and 

submission to the yearly Pre-Budget Consultation. Boards are encouraged to submit 

education funding issues requiring Association action and advocacy by the middle of 

October. 

 

B. Steps in Preparing a Resolution 

 

1. Review the Mission, Vision and Strategic Priorities of OCSTA. 

2. Identify the concern. Be sure the concern is a matter of province-wide scope. 

3. Research and gather sufficient supporting background materials to substantiate the resolution. If 

the concern has been presented/dealt with in a previous resolution, review the outcome of that 

process to assess what changes in approach/additional information might be useful.  

4. Write the resolution in the following proposed format taking care to ensure that: 

a. Each “Whereas” is accompanied by adequate background material. 

b. The “Therefore be it Resolved” directs OCSTA to take specific action. 

 

C. Writing A Resolution 

 

Structure 

 

The resolution should be assigned a succinct title that identifies the problem or issue (or its 

proposed solution). There should be two parts to the resolution: a preamble followed by a resolving 

clause (or clauses). 
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P R O M O T I N G   A N D   P R O T E C T I N G   C A T H O L I C   E D U C A T I O N 

 

1. Preamble 

 

The preamble is a brief statement of background or rationale coming before the resolving clause(s). 

The purpose of the preamble is to provide information without which the point or the merits of a 

resolution are likely to be poorly understood. 

 

Each clause in a preamble is written as a separate paragraph, beginning with the word 

“WHEREAS”. 

 

2. Resolving Clauses 

 

 A resolving clause indicates what action(s) is to be taken given the “WHEREAS” clause(s) in the 

preamble. If more than one action is being recommended, the “Therefore be It Resolved” portion 

should be divided into a), b), c), etc. 

 

3. Submission Statement 

 

Please include the following information in the submission statement. 

 

[Mover’s Name] 

[Seconder’s Name] 

[Board Name] 

[Topic] 

 

D. Submission Deadline Date 

 

The final deadline date for receipt of resolutions in the OCSTA office is 12:00 p.m. EST, January 

31, 2020. We encourage boards to submit their resolutions at any time from May to January by 

email to Connie Araujo-De Melo at cdemelo@ocsta.on.ca. 

 

E. Regulations 

 

Please see the attached current regulations regarding submission and presentation of resolutions at 

the AGM. 

 

These guidelines, the enclosed template and the resolution session procedures are provided as a 

reference that we hope you will find useful in preparing effective resolutions for your Association 

and Catholic education in Ontario. 
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P R O M O T I N G   A N D   P R O T E C T I N G   C A T H O L I C   E D U C A T I O N 

 

Template 
 

 

Please do not use tables, text boxes or any type of graphic or letterhead. The type of font to be used in 

this document is Times New Roman 12pt.  

 

The following example is taken from a Resolution dealt with at a previous AGM and is provided for your 

reference. 

 

 

 

Moved by: [Mover’s Name] [Board Name] 

 

Seconded by:  [Seconder’s Name] 

 

Topic: [e.g. Vacancies on School Boards] 

 

 

Whereas: from time to time a vacancy occurs in the office of a member of the board; 

and 

 

Whereas: according to Section 221(1) of the Education Act, the vacancy must be filled 

by either a by-election or by appointment; and 

 

Whereas: boards choosing to appoint a new trustee will, most commonly, engage in an 

open and fair process of selection; and 

 

Whereas: the Education Act requires that the process be fully completed within 60 

days of the office becoming vacant; and 

 

Whereas: the 60 day time period may encompass a part of the year (e.g. Christmas, 

summer months, March Break) when board operations and processes are 

reduced, thus making the timelines very tight and, potentially, 

unmanageable; 

 

Therefore be it Resolved that: 

 

OCSTA petition the Ministry of Education to review the section of the Education Act which 

relates to trustee vacancies with a view to extending the timeline by either increasing the number 

of days or altering the requirement that the process be completed within a designated number of 

regular school days. 

 

 
If you have any questions regarding this template please contact Connie Araujo-De Melo either by 

telephone at 416-932-9460 ext. 226 or by e-mail at cdemelo@ocsta.on.ca. 
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P R O M O T I N G   A N D   P R O T E C T I N G   C A T H O L I C   E D U C A T I O N 

 

Explanation of Committee Recommendations 

& Resolution Session Procedures 

 
Resolution sessions will be conducted using “Robert’s Rules of Order” and the provisions of the 

OCSTA Constitution. The chairperson of the session will ensure compliance with their rules. 

Explanation of Committee Recommendations 

 

The Resolutions Committee will study the resolutions and offer recommendations on the best way to meet 

their intent. The recommendations and their implications are: 

 

i. Approve 

The direction given in the “therefore be it resolved” section of the resolution will be carried out. 

 

ii.  Approve and refer to the .…. committee for appropriate implementation. 

The resolution will be forwarded to the designated committee for implementation. 

 

iii. Receive and refer to the ..... committee for study. 

The resolution will be forwarded to the designated committee for study. Following the study and 

receipt of the committee’s recommendation, the Board of Directors will determine whether or not 

the resolution will be implemented. 

 

iv. Not approve 

No action will be taken. 

 

v.  No recommendation 

The committee is not making any recommendation with respect to the resolution. 

 

vi. No action required 

The intent of the resolution has been met. No further action will be taken. 

Resolution Session Procedures 

 
Delegates wishing to speak to a resolution must go to one of the floor microphones and state their name 

and the name of the board they represent. 

 

The mover of a resolution will have the opportunity to be the first and last to speak to that resolution. 

Other trustees may speak once to a resolution. 

 

The chairperson may declare a motion out of order giving the reasons for doing so. The chairperson’s 

decision may be challenged by a majority vote of those voting delegates at the session when the vote is 

called. 

 

Voting will be by a show of hands. Delegates carrying proxies must have and show proper identification - 

i.e. proxy badge. Ballots will be provided in the event that a vote by ballot is called for. 

 

Note Re Quorum: Quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Members shall require 

the presence in person or by proxy of not less than a total of forty (40) current 

Members. 
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Grouped Resolutions 

 

a. the chair of the session will ask for a mover and seconder to approve the grouping of various 

related resolutions. 

 

b. the chair of the session will ask for movers and seconders for the committee recommendation for 

each group. 

 

c. delegates will vote on the committee recommendation for each group.  

 

Delegates may request that any resolution(s) be removed from a “group” to be handled individually. 

These will be addressed when the group from which they have been removed has been dealt with. 

Resolutions Handled Individually 

 

These will include resolutions removed from the groups, resolutions for which the committee has not 

made any recommendation and resolutions from the floor. 

 

A. Resolutions with committee recommendations 
 

1. The chair of the session will announce the resolution number and the name of the sponsoring 

board: 

 

 the chair will call for the sponsoring board to move and second the committee 

recommendation; 

 delegates will speak to the committee recommendation; 

 delegates will vote on the committee recommendation. 

 

2. If the sponsoring board does not move the committee recommendation from the floor: 

 

 the chair will call for the sponsoring board to move their original resolution; 

 delegates will speak to the resolution; 

 delegates will vote on the resolution. 

 

 3. If the original resolution is not moved by the sponsoring board, the resolution will be withdrawn. 

 

B. Resolutions without committee recommendations  
 

1. These resolutions will be handled as follows: 

 

 the chair will call for the sponsoring board to move their original resolution; 

 delegates will speak to the resolution; 

 delegates will vote on the resolution. 

 

 2. If the original resolution is not moved by the sponsoring board, the resolution will be withdrawn. 
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C. Amendments from the Floor 

  
Amendments made on the floor relate to the “therefore be it resolved” section of the resolution and 

must be written out and handed to the chairperson. The chairperson will consider the amendment 

and, if necessary, discuss it with the parliamentarian or others to ensure that it is clearly understood. 

 

 the chair will read the amendment; 

 delegates will speak to the amendment; 

 delegates will vote on the amendment; 

 delegates will vote on the resolution as amended. 

 

If the amendment is defeated: 

 

 delegates will be asked to speak to the original resolution; 

 delegates will vote on the original resolution.    

 

D. Members’ Discussion Rights 

 

 Under Article 5.11 (Members Discussion Rights), a Member may raise a matter for discussion at the 

Annual General Meeting. Subject to the provisions in Articles 5.10.1 to 5.10.5, and 5.11, the item 

may be addressed, and may be referred to a committee of OCSTA for further consideration, but it 

shall not be put to a vote at the meeting at which it has been raised.  

 

 If the Member continues such discussion for three minutes or more, the Chair of the meeting may 

interrupt the Member and permit others to speak and/or make any subsidiary motion related thereto. 

 

 
Revised May 1, 2019 
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Our Mission 
 

Inspired by the Gospel, the Ontario Catholic School Trustees’ Association provides the 

provincial voice, leadership and service for elected Catholic school trustees to promote and 

protect publicly funded Catholic education in Ontario. 

 

Our Vision 
 
Ontario is enriched by a publicly funded Catholic education system governed by locally elected 

Catholic school trustees who serve with faith, commitment and compassion. 

 
 
The Association’s Strategic Priorities are as follows: 

 

1. Enhance Political Advocacy for Catholic Education 

 

a. Strengthen current advocacy platform by building positive new relationships and 

reinforcing existing ones with groups like OAPCE, OCSOA, CWL, etc. 

 

b. Communicate and promote current messages about the value of Catholic education to our 

key target audiences: parents, students, politicians, teachers, alumni, parishioners, etc. 

 

2. Engage Trustees in an Enriched Development Program 

 

a. Assess the current needs and interests of members to guide development of appropriate 

programming. 

 

b. Ensure OCSTA programing provides timely and relevant content to support trustees in 

their roles as advocates and spokespersons for Catholic education. 

 

3. Manage Human and Fiscal Resources to Effectively meet Changing Needs 

 

a. Align the work of committees, staff and fiscal resources behind structures and initiatives 

that support the association’s three key priorities. 

 

b. Ensure OCSTA is structurally aligned to successfully fulfill its role as the legislated 

Employer Bargaining Agent for all of Ontario’s English Catholic District School Boards. 
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 Board Topic AGM Decision 

A-19 OCSTA Board Amendment to the “Amended and Restated By-law 

Number 2016-1, A By-law Relating Generally to the 

Conduct of Its Affairs” (“OCSTA By-Law”) 

Approve 

1.  Hamilton-

Wentworth 

Accuracy of Municipal Voter Lists Approve 

2.  Simcoe Muskoka Property Tax – School Board Support Approve 

3.  Waterloo Parent Reaching out Grants Approve 

4.  Dufferin-Peel Funding for Retrofitting/Renovating Schools Approve 

5.  Dufferin-Peel Funding for Students with Diverse Learning Needs, 

Including Special Education 

Approve 

6.  Simcoe Muskoka Special Education Approve 

7.  Dufferin-Peel Student Transportation Funding Approve 

8.  Dufferin-Peel School Bus Driver Retention Concerns Approve 

9.  Ottawa  Equity Regarding System/Department Principals Approve and refer to Labour 

Relations Committee 

10.  Dufferin-Peel Occasional Teacher Costs Approve and refer to Labour 

 Relations Committee 

11.  Peterborough 

VNC 

Cybersecurity in School Boards Approve and refer to Political 

Advocacy Committee 

12.  Simcoe Muskoka Economic Realities with Capital Projects Approve and refer to Political 

Advocacy Committee 

13.  Dufferin-Peel Parent Reaching Out (PRO) Grants Approve and refer to Political 

Advocacy Committee 

14.  Ottawa Perceived threat to Security Approve and refer to CETE 

15.  Dufferin-Peel Daily Occasional Teacher Roster Caps 

Same resolution was considered at 2018 AGM. It was 

received and referred to Labour Relations Committee. 

Receive and refer to Labour 

Relations Committee 

16.  Dufferin-Peel Hard Caps in Kindergarten Classes Receive and refer to Labour 

Relations Committee 

17.  Northwest Regulation 274 Fair Hiring Practice Receive and refer to Labour 

Relations Committee 

18.  Dufferin-Peel Ontario Regulation 274/12 Hiring Practices Receive and refer to Labour 

Relations Committee 

19.  Dufferin-Peel Qualified French Teacher  Recruitment & Retention Receive and refer to Labour 

Relations Committee 

20.  Dufferin-Peel Support Staff Recruitment and Retention Receive and refer to Labour 

Relations Committee 

 

21.  Simcoe Muskoka Chronic Shortage of Occasional Staff for Teachers, Early 

Childhood Educators and Educational Assistants, and Its 

Impact on Learning 

Receive and refer to Labour 

Relations Committee 

22.  Waterloo Capital Priorities Program Receive and refer to Political 

Advocacy Committee 

23.  Dufferin-Peel Air Conditioning in all Schools Receive and refer to Political 

Advocacy Committee 

24.  Waterloo Renewal Funding for Administrative Buildings Receive and refer to Political 

Advocacy Committee 

25.  Waterloo Green Investments Receive and refer to Political 

Advocacy Committee 

26.  Dufferin-Peel Funding for Mathematics Courses Receive and refer to Political 
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Advocacy Committee 

 Board Topic AGM Decision 

27.  Dufferin-Peel 50 Day Limit Re-employment for Retired School 

Administrators 

Receive and refer to Political 

Advocacy Committee 

28.  Ottawa Seat Belts on School Buses Receive and refer to Political 

Advocacy Committee 

29.  Simcoe Muskoka Trustee Honorarium and Benefits Receive and refer to Political 

Advocacy Committee 

30.  Waterloo Trustee Honoraria Receive and refer to Political 

Advocacy Committee 

31.  Simcoe Muskoka Home, School, Church Receive and refer to CETE 

32.  Simcoe Muskoka Global Warming – Climate Change Receive and refer to CETE 

33.  Ottawa Use of word “Indian” Receive and refer to CETE 

34.  Toronto Legal Defence Fund and Insurance for Individual 

Catholic School Trustees 

1. Receive and refer to Budget & 

Human Resources Committee 

2. Receive and refer to Political  

Advocacy Committee 

TIMELINE: Jan. 2020 Catholic  

Trustees Seminar 

35.  Dufferin-Peel Investigation of a new method of vote allocation at the 

Annual General Meeting of the Ontario Catholic School 

Trustees’ Association (OCSTA) 

Not Approve 

36.  Toronto Weighted Voting for the Annual General Meeting of the 

Ontario Catholic School Trustees’ Association (OCSTA) 

Not Approve 
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Excerpt from  
Ontario Catholic School Trustees’ Association 
General Working By-law 2019-01 

 

5. MEETINGS OF MEMBERS 

5.9 Resolutions from CDSB’s 

Any CDSB may submit a Resolution for consideration at an Annual Meeting to address any 

challenge or opportunity which affects Catholic education in Ontario, subject to the following: 

5.9.1 each such Resolution shall have been received at the Head Office of the Corporation 

not less than sixty (60) days prior to the date of the Annual Meeting; 

5.9.2 each such Resolution shall have been considered and reported upon by a Committee 

of the Board, or by the Board of Directors;  

5.9.3 each such Resolution shall be circulated among all CDSB’s not less than thirty (30) 

days prior to the Annual Meeting; 

5.9.4 each such Resolution shall be included in the notice of the Annual Meeting; and  

5.9.5 no such resolution shall be acted upon unless approved by a majority of the votes cast 

at an Annual Meeting. 
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Template 
 

 

Please do not use tables, text boxes or any type of graphic or letterhead. The type of font to be used in 

this document is Times New Roman 12pt.  

 

The following example is taken from a Resolution dealt with at a previous AGM and is provided for your 

reference. 

 

 

 

Moved by: [Mover’s Name] [Board Name] 

 

Seconded by:  [Seconder’s Name] 

 

Topic: [e.g. Vacancies on School Boards] 

 

 

Whereas: from time to time a vacancy occurs in the office of a member of the board; 

and 

 

Whereas: according to Section 221(1) of the Education Act, the vacancy must be filled 

by either a by-election or by appointment; and 

 

Whereas: boards choosing to appoint a new trustee will, most commonly, engage in an 

open and fair process of selection; and 

 

Whereas: the Education Act requires that the process be fully completed within 60 

days of the office becoming vacant; and 

 

Whereas: the 60 day time period may encompass a part of the year (e.g. Christmas, 

summer months, March Break) when board operations and processes are 

reduced, thus making the timelines very tight and, potentially, 

unmanageable; 

 

Therefore be it Resolved that: 

 

OCSTA petition the Ministry of Education to review the section of the Education Act which 

relates to trustee vacancies with a view to extending the timeline by either increasing the number 

of days or altering the requirement that the process be completed within a designated number of 

regular school days. 

 

 
If you have any questions regarding this template please contact Connie Araujo-De Melo either by 

telephone at 416-932-9460 ext. 226 or by e-mail at cdemelo@ocsta.on.ca. 
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The Chair called for a vote. 

138



139



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
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